
Democratic Services Contact Officer: Laurence Damary-Homan 01954 713000 democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Tuesday 05 July 2022 
 
To: Chair – Councillor Henry Batchelor 
 Vice-Chair – Councillor Peter Fane 
 All Members of the Planning Committee - Councillors Ariel Cahn, 

Dr. Martin Cahn, Bill Handley, Geoff Harvey, Dr. Tumi Hawkins, 
William Jackson-Wood, Peter Sandford, Heather Williams and 
Dr. Richard Williams 

Quorum: 3 
 
Substitutes 
if needed: 

Councillors Graham Cone, Sue Ellington, Mark Howell, Bunty Waters, 
Dr. Shrobona Bhattacharya, Anna Bradnam, Brian Milnes, 
Richard Stobart, Paul Bearpark and Helene Leeming 

 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are invited to attend the next meeting of Planning Committee, which will be held in 
the Council Chamber, First Floor on Wednesday, 13 July 2022 at 10.00 a.m.. A 
weblink to enable members of the press and public to listen to the proceedings 
will be published on the relevant page of the Council’s website , normally, at least 
24 hours before the meeting. 
 
 
Members are respectfully reminded that when substituting on committees, 
subcommittees, and outside or joint bodies, Democratic Services must be advised of 
the substitution in advance of the meeting.  It is not possible to accept a substitute 
once the meeting has started.  Council Standing Order 4.3 refers. 
 
Yours faithfully 
Liz Watts 
Chief Executive 
 

The Council is committed to improving, for all members of the community, 
access to its agendas and minutes.  We try to take all circumstances into account 

but, if you have any specific needs, please let us know, and we will do what we 
can to help you. 

 

 
Agenda 

 Pages 
1. Chair's announcements   
 
2. Apologies   
 To receive apologies for absence from committee members.   

 

 

South Cambridgeshire Hall 

Cambourne Business Park 

Cambourne 

Cambridge 

CB23 6EA 

t: 01954 713000 

f: 01954 713149 

www.scambs.gov.uk 



   
3. Declarations of Interest   
  

1. Disclosable pecuniary interests (“DPI”)  
A  DPI is where a committee member or his/her spouse or 
partner has any kind of beneficial interest in the land under 
consideration at the meeting. 

 
 2.  Non-disclosable pecuniary interests 

These are interests that are pecuniary involving a  personal 
financial benefit or detriment but do not come within the 
definition of a DPI.  An example would be where a member 
of their family/close friend (who is not their spouse or 
partner) has such an interest. 

 
3. Non-pecuniary interests 

Where the interest is not one which involves any personal 
financial benefit or detriment to the Councillor but arises out 
of a close connection with someone or some  body 
/association.  An example would be membership of a sports 
committee/ membership of another council which is involved 
in the matter under consideration. 

 

   
4. Minutes of Previous Meeting   
 Minutes to follow.  
   
5. 21/00953/FUL - Former Hotel Felix, Whitehouse Lane, Girton  1 - 56 
 Demolition of existing buildings and erection of a care home (Use 

Class C2) with external amenity space, access, parking, 
landscaping and other associated works. 

 

   
6. 22/00116/FUL - Car Park, Walkling Way, Milton  57 - 66 
 Installation of a 10 bicyclite bike shelter at the car park at Walkling 

Way 
 

   
7. Enforcement Report  67 - 74 
 
8. Appeals against Planning Decisions and Enforcement Action  75 - 90 
 

 

  

 
Exclusion of Press and Public 

 
The law allows Councils to consider a limited range of issues in private session without members of the Press and 
public being present.  Typically, such issues relate to personal details, financial and business affairs, legal privilege 
and so on.  In every case, the public interest in excluding the Press and Public from the meeting room must outweigh 
the public interest in having the information disclosed to them.  The following statement will be proposed, seconded 
and voted upon.   
 
"I propose that the Press and public be excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the following item 
number(s) ….. in accordance with Section 100(A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that, if 
present, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph(s) ….. of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act.” 
 
If exempt (confidential) information has been provided as part of the agenda, the Press and public will not be able to 
view it.  There will be an explanation on the website however as to why the information is exempt.   



Notes 
 

(1) Some development control matters in this Agenda where the periods of consultation and representation 
may not have quite expired are reported to Committee to save time in the decision making process. 
Decisions on these applications will only be made at the end of the consultation periods after taking into 
account all material representations made within the full consultation period. The final decisions may be 
delegated to the Corporate Manager (Planning and Sustainable Communities). 

 

(2) The Council considers every planning application on its merits and in the context of national, regional and 
local planning policy. As part of the Council's customer service standards, Councillors and officers aim to 
put customers first, deliver outstanding service and provide easy access to services and information. At all 
times, we will treat customers with respect and will be polite, patient and honest. The Council is also 
committed to treat everyone fairly and justly, and to promote equality. This applies to all residents and 
customers, planning applicants and those people against whom the Council is taking, or proposing to take, 
planning enforcement action.  More details can be found on the Council's website under 'Council and 
Democracy'. 



This page is left blank intentionally.



 
  
Planning Committee Date 13 July 2022 

 

Report to South Cambridgeshire District Council 
Planning Committee 
 

Lead Officer Joint Director of Planning and Economic 
Development 
 

Reference 21/00953/FUL 
 

Site Former Hotel Felix, Whitehouse Lane 
 

Ward / Parish Girton 
 

Proposal Demolition of existing buildings and erection of 
a care home (Use Class C2) with external 
amenity space, access, parking, landscaping 
and other associated works. 
 

Applicant Cassel Hotels (Cambridge) Ltd 
 

Presenting Officer Mary Collins 
 

Reason Reported to 
Committee 

Called-in by Councillor Bygott 
Third party representations 
Departure Application 
Application raises special planning policy or 
other considerations 
 

Member Site Visit Date N/A 
 

Key Issues 1. Principle of Development in the Green 
Belt 

2. Green Belt Openness and Purposes 
3. Character and Appearance of the Area 
4. Landscape 
5. Biodiversity 
6. Trees 
7. Highway Safety and Parking 
8. Flood Risk and Drainage 
9. Heritage Impact 
10. Residential Amenity 
11. Renewables / Climate Change 
12. Very Special Circumstances 
13. Section 106 contributions 
 

Recommendation APPROVE subject to conditions / S106 
 

 
  

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



1.0 Executive Summary 
 

1.1 The site is located outside of the development framework boundary of 
Girton, in the Green Belt.  The application seeks full planning permission for 
the demolition of existing buildings and the erection of a care home with 
external amenity space, access, parking, landscaping and associated 
works. The proposal would also include a Dementia Research Centre. 
 

1.2 The proposal would result in a circa 13% increase in built footprint and circa 
33% increase in associated volumes largely derived from the overall 
increase in building height, although hard surface car parking would be 
reduced. Although the harm to the openness of the Green Belt is not 
significant, it would constitute inappropriate development which is, by 
definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in 
very special circumstances. In addition to the harm by reason of 
inappropriateness, the proposal is also considered to result in harm by virtue 
of the loss of openness to the Green Belt and conflict with the purposes of 
the Green Belt.  
 

1.3 The applicant’s agent has advanced a number of considerations that would 
outweigh the identified harm. The applicant has demonstrated very special 
circumstances exist, in particular the need for the specialist housing with 
dementia care and associated research centre, the site would make use of 
previously developed land and deliver a number of additional jobs. This, 
amongst other considerations, is considered to carry significant weight to 
constitute the ‘very special circumstances’ required to justify inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt and loss of a non-designated heritage asset, 
clearly outweighing the identified harm. 
 

1.4 Officers recommend that the Planning Committee approve subject to 
conditions and the completion of a Section 106 Agreement. 

 
2.0 Site Description and Context 
 

None relevant    
 

 Tree Preservation Order X 

Conservation Area 
 

- Local Nature Reserve - 

Listed Building 
 

- Flood Zone 1 X 

Building of Local Interest 
 

 Green Belt X 

Historic Park and Garden - Protected Open Space - 

Scheduled Ancient Monument - Controlled Parking Zone - 

Local Neighbourhood and 
District Centre 

- Article 4 Direction - 

 
 

Page 2



2.1 The site lies outside of the Girton Village Development Framework and 
within the open countryside and Green Belt.  The site has numerous 
Protected Trees within the site and on the boundaries. The site lies within 
Flood Zone 1 with public footpath 39/48 running north south along 
Whitehouse Lane which also forms a cycle route to Darwin Green. 
Immediate to the east of the site lies the boundary of Cambridge City 
Council. The site is considered to be a sustainable location. 
 

2.2 The application site is a large hotel set in landscaped grounds and accessed 
via a drive from Whitehouse Lane off Huntingdon Road. The building is 
comprised of an original Victorian main house with later extensions in the 
form of single storey and two storey wings to the side and rear. It is located 
outside but adjacent to the development framework of Girton and in the 
Cambridge Green Belt. It is located between the Thornton Road housing 
estate to the west and the buildings on Whitehouse land to the east. To the 
front and rear of the site are sports grounds 
 

2.3 The site currently comprises of a 52-bedroom hotel which includes a 
restaurant but one which is now permanently closed.  

 
2.4 To the west the land is in use as a playing field. To the southeast is 

Whitehouse Lane with the NIAB site on the opposite side of the road. 
 
3.0 The Proposal 

 
3.1 The proposed development would involve the demolition of the hotel and 

restaurant to be replaced by an 80-bedroom care home facility with 
associated recreational spaces, clinic facilities, back of house facilities, 
kitchens and recreational facilities. The proposal includes a dementia 
research centre linking in-house care to professionals working at 
Addenbrookes hospital and the wider community. 

 
3.2 The siting of the proposed care home would be largely in the same position 

as the existing building, slightly to the west and further south allowing 
sufficient distance to provide a level of amenity to the adjacent residents 
and respect the Green Belt and views to and from the site. 

 

3.3 The replacement structure would be predominantly two storeys, with a 
localised 3 storey feature to mark the entrance to the care home. Its footprint 
(2,395 m2) will be slightly more than the existing structure (2,110 m2), and 
it is located slightly northwest compared to the existing. 

 

3.4 The proposed design has been inspired by a neo-classical aesthetic. The 
principal external materials are plain grey brick and the pitched roof is slate. 

 

3.5 A proposed landscape scheme accompanies the development, consisting 
of a sensory garden, private terraces for ground floor bedrooms, a residents’ 
garden and associated parking court. The parking court has been laid out 
to prioritise the retention of existing trees, which would be joined by 
supplementary planting. Furthermore, the landscape proposal incorporates 

Page 3



features to enhance biodiversity, such as bat boxes and log piles; the design 
of the building includes two areas of biodiverse roof. 

 

3.6 31 car parking spaces are to be provided including two Blue-badge parking 
spaces. 

 
4.0 Relevant Site History 
 
4.1 S/4502/17/FL – Erection of a two-storey extension to the rear of the building 

to provide 16 additional bedrooms and the erection of a new reception area 
to the side of the building – Approved. 
 

4.2 S/0297/08/F – Extension of the hotel – Approved. 
 

4.3 S/0817/00/F – Part Demolition and Extensions to Form 48 Bedroomed hotel 
– Approved. 

 
5.0 Policy 
 
5.1 National  

 
National Planning Policy Framework 2021 
 
National Planning Practice Guidance  
 
National Design Guide 2021 
 
Local Transport Note 1/20 (LTN 1/20) Cycle Infrastructure Design 
 
Circular 11/95 (Conditions, Annex A) 
 
EIA Directives and Regulations - European Union legislation with regard to 
environmental assessment and the UK’s planning regime remains 
unchanged despite it leaving the European Union on 31 January 2020 
 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 
 
Environment Act 2021 
 
ODPM Circular 06/2005 – Protected Species 
 
Equalities Act 2010 

 
5.2 South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018  

S/1 – Vision 
S/2 – Objectives of the Local Plan 
S/3 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
S/4 – Cambridge Green Belt 
S/5 – Provision of New Jobs and Homes 
S/7 – Development Frameworks 

Page 4



CC/1 – Mitigation and Adaption to Climate Change 
CC/3 – Renewable and Low Carbon Energy in New Developments 
CC/4 – Water Efficiency 
CC/6 – Construction Methods 
CC/7 – Water Quality 
CC/8 – Sustainable Drainage Systems 
CC/9 – Managing Flood Risk 
HQ/1 – Design Principles 
HQ/2 – Public Art and New Development 
NH/2 – Protecting and Enhancing Landscape Character 
NH/4 – Biodiversity 
NH/6 – Green Infrastructure 
NH/8 – Mitigating the Impact of Development in & adjoining the Green Belt 
NH/9 – Redevelopment of Previously Developed Sites and Infilling in the 
Green Belt 
NH/14 – Heritage Assets 
H/9 – Housing Mix 
SC/2 – Health Impact Assessment 
SC/4 – Meeting Community Needs 
SC/5 – Community Healthcare Provision 
SC/6 – Indoor Community Facilities 
SC/7 – Outdoor Play Space, Informal Open Space & New Developments 
SC/9 – Lighting Proposals 
SC/10 – Noise Pollution 
SC/11 – Contaminated Land 
SC/12 – Air Quality 
TI/2 – Planning for Sustainable Travel 
TI/3 – Parking Provision 
TI/8 – Infrastructure and New Developments 
TI/10 – Broadband 

 
5.3 Supplementary Planning Documents 
 

Biodiversity SPD – Adopted February 2022 
Sustainable Design and Construction SPD – Adopted January 2020 
Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD – Adopted November 2016 

 
5.4 The following SPDs were adopted to provide guidance to support previously 

adopted Development Plan Documents that have now been superseded by 
the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. These documents are still 
material considerations when making planning decisions, with the weight in 
decision making to be determined on a case-by-case basis:  

 
Health Impact Assessment SPD – Adopted March 2011 
Landscape in New Developments SPD – Adopted March 2010 
District Design Guide SPD – Adopted March 2010 
Open Space in New Developments SPD – Adopted January 2009 
Public Art SPD – Adopted January 2009 
Trees and Development Sites SPD – Adopted January 2009 

 

Page 5



 
6.0 Consultations  
 

6.1 Girton Parish Council – Object 
 
Comments (in full) 
Strong concerns regarding ecological impact and the heritage impact of this 
proposed development, through loss of trees, increase in carbon footprint 
and the loss of an 1850s building. 

 Girton is already well-provided with facilities for this age demographic 
and will not have adequate medical or burial services to support 
another 80-bed care and dementia facility. The Local Plan highlights 
the importance for planning for a mixed and balanced community and 
this proposal will merely skew the village's age demographic even 
further towards the elderly. There is no further need for additional 
care in the sector, including and especially at the luxury, and 
therefore most expensive, end of the market. Should SCDC Planners 
be minded to accept the application, Girton Parish Council would 
request a meeting with S106 Officers regarding an amount for the 
increased provision of health/medical services and burial services. 

 This application provides for the complete demolition of the former 
Hotel Felix, which is a structurally sound building (completely 
refurbished in 2002). The resultant damage to the environment, and 
in particular to the 'Girton Gap', which is intended as a 'green' break 
between Cambridge City and Girton would be considerable. 
Moreover, the development would not fit with the street scene of 
Whitehouse Lane. 

 The planning authority's failure to list the building is a planning 
objection to the development. 

 There is inadequate parking provision for staff, who will not be able 
to use public transport if they are working shifts. There are also no 
facilities for overnight stays for staff. 
 
NB: The effect on Heritage was not the subject of a resolution but the 
Council notes that others have commented extensively on this 
aspect.  

 
 
6.2 Ancient Monument Society – Object  

 
Comments (summary) 
The priority for development within the District should be to adapt and reuse 
historic buildings, rather than demolish high quality, viable buildings. The 
AMS therefore strongly objects to the complete loss of the historic house 
and would recommend the plans are revised to retain the historic building 
and meet local zero carbon emission targets. 
 
 
 

Page 6



6.3 Commissioning Manager (Adults), People & Communities, 
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough, Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Comments (in full) 

 The proposed site is on the border between Cambridge City and South 
Cambs district council boundaries. 

 The County Council has been finalising needs assessment for 
accommodation-based services for older people which it expects to publish 
in the next few months. In its assessment of accommodation-based 
provision for older people, it has taken account of the Laing Buisson 
research which has noted that care home market capacity has remained 
largely flat over the past ten years, even though the numbers of older people 
has increased significantly. During the same period there has been 
substantial growth in ‘housing with care’ options. Projecting forwards, Laing 
Buisson’s analysis suggests that care home growth would be between 4 – 
23% above the existing provision. In its forecast, the county council has 
used the mid-point i.e. 13.5% which equates to an additional 731 beds 
across Cambridgeshire & Peterborough.  

 According to CQC Care Directory, in April 2020 there were 928 care beds 
in South Cambridgeshire and 697 beds in Cambridge City. Using the mid-
point as the basis of its projections, the County Council’s needs assessment 
is that by 2036 1,052 care beds will be required in South Cambs and 791 in 
Cambridge City. So the expected need would be an additional 124 beds in 
South Cambs and 94 beds in Cambridge City. 

 The County Council also noted that planning permission had been granted 
for a further 3 care homes with a total of 210 care beds.  

 
6.4 Conservation Team  
 
 Comments (in full) 

Existing 
The ‘significance assessment’ submitted contains a history of the site and 
building and gives an estimate of how & when the building changed over 
time, leading to its current incarnation as an hotel. 
 
The building is not an LB [and has immunity from Listing; see certificate from 
Historic England submitted] and does not lie within a CA [SCDC does not 
have BLIs] but does have a certain modest level of design and presence but 
has had a catalogue of change and alteration over the years. A very 
extensive range of indifferent extensions to form the hotel were built in the 
C21. As a fairly typical Victorian suburban villa it should be categorised as 
a non-designated heritage asset (NDHA) with its setting compromised by 
modern works. 
 
The location of the historic part of the building lies in an important ‘green 
finger’ [the so-called Girton Gap] that clearly separates the edge of the city 
from the suburban part of Girton and, by historic chance, visually blocks that 
gap. In townscape terms, maintaining this gap is important and in terms of 
the evolution of both settlements it should be important that they are not 
seen as merging or the one subsuming the other. 

Page 7



 
Proposed 
Demolition – The agents have noted that there were structural reports 
undertaken in the past but the comments suggest that the problems were 
not beyond repair. They also suggest that there were problems associated 
with damp and lack of compliance with the DDA. None of these sound to be 
insuperable or impossible to remedy. 
 
Current thinking is that the most sustainable building is an existing building 
and there needs to be a judgment as to whether the NDHA could be 
repaired, retained and converted to a new use or, with selective demolition 
of insignificant elements, it could be repaired, retained and extended to 
better fulfil the needs of its new use. The submission describes various 
‘concept designs’ looking at retaining the ‘existing building’ and converting 
it to the proposed use; four of the concepts involve retaining the modern 
extensions and one demolishing the modern extensions and retaining and 
extending the NDHA. The rejection of this concept as worthy of taking 
forward seems to be based entirely on perceived problems with levels.  
 
New build – The design submitted is for a ‘hollow square’ plan form 
consisting of four substantial blocks of brick construction with pitched, 
hipped, slated roofs with flat areas with glazed link blocks. Some blocks are 
of two storeys and some of two-and-a-half storeys. It is a ‘historicist’ design 
with some glazed link blocks that are intended to break up the visual bulk of 
the scheme. Whilst repetitiveness can work well in some neo-classical 
designs [the terraces of Edinburgh or Bath, for example] these are usually 
in an urban setting whereas here that repetitiveness would be seen in an 
edge of suburban setting. Whilst there is no objection to this architectural 
approach, it does feel – given the size of the proposal – like it could do with 
more vivacity. 
 
Site layout – If the demolition of the existing is accepted, then there seems 
to be no valid reason for putting the replacement building right in the middle 
of the site. This site forms part of an important ‘green finger’ separating 
Girton from the city and it is by historic chance that the existing building now 
rather links the two and dilutes that separation. 
 
As the city expands onto the NIAB site, Whitehouse Lane tends to have 
become the delineator with the fringe of city suburbs to the South and the 
C20 suburban expansion of Girton to the North. If the historic building is to 
go, then it seems preferable that any new development is firmly located in 
one part of the site or the other, not ‘floating’ in between and diluting the 
effect of the ‘green separation’. There appears to be no architectural or 
practical reason why the care home block should not be – for example – 
pushed well towards the back of the site and be seen as clearly part of 
Girton and its built fabric. Or the block could be pushed forwards towards 
Whitehouse Lane so that it fronted the lane more formally and be seen as 
part of the Northern edge of the city. Thus the ‘green finger’ [the gardens of 
the overall complex] would be re-established more clearly and that sense of 
separation would be stronger. 

Page 8



 
The proposals will not comply with Local Plan policy NH/14. This is because 
the scheme fails sustain and enhance the significance of the NDHA, 
including its setting, appropriately to its significance. NH/14, Section 2, part 
d. 
With reference to the NPPF and the effect on the significance of the heritage 
asset, paragraph 197 would apply. This is because the scheme would cause 
substantial harm in the case of complete demolition and loss of the NDHA. 
Should this gain consent, then the usual Conditions relating to external 
materials and detailing would be necessary in order to get a decent building. 
 
Further comments - Whilst the details of why Option 5 has not been pursued 
are noted it does not change the fact that the main building is a NDHA for 
the reasons outlined by Conservation Officer and the proposals will result in 
total loss of that heritage asset. Paragraph 203 of the NPPF states that a 
balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm 
or loss and the significance of the heritage asset. The loss of a NDHA can 
be mitigated by the quality of what replaces it and previous comments on 
the design of the new building are still valid as are comments relating to the 
site layout and loss of the “Girton Gap”. 
 

6.5 Ecology Officer – No objection.  
 
Comments (in full) 
The application is supported by an Ecology Assessment (Ecology Solutions, 
October 2020) which is welcome. The report found brown long eared bat 
droppings within the loft of the main building, and although no bats were 
seen to emerge or enter the building during surveys, it has been assumed 
that there is a bat roost within the building and a Natural England Licence 
will be applied for. With the exception of breeding birds, there were no other 
ecological constraints identified. Agree with the report and would suggest 
the following conditions: 

 

 All ecological measures and/or works shall be carried out in accordance 
with the details contained in the Ecology Assessment (Ecology Solutions, 
October 2020) as already submitted with the planning application and 
agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior to determination. 

 Demolition of any building shall not in any circumstances commence unless 
the local planning authority has been provided with either: a licence issued 
by Natural England pursuant to Regulation 53 of the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) authorising the 
specified activity/development to go ahead; or a statement in writing from 
the relevant licensing body to the effect that it does not consider that the 
specified activity/development will require a licence. 

 Scheme of biodiversity enhancement including details as to how a positive 
net gain in biodiversity has been accomplished.  

 
 
 
 

Page 9



6.6 Environmental Health – no objection 
 
Comments (summary) 
The proposed residential use is sensitive to contamination and the site has 
a potentially contaminative historical usage. Recommended conditions; 
1. No development shall take place until:  
a. The application site has been subject to a detailed scheme for the 
investigation and recording of contamination and remediation objectives 
have been determined through risk assessment and agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority  
b. Detailed proposals for the removal, containment or otherwise rendering 
harmless any contamination (the Remediation method statement) have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
2. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, the 
works specified in any remediation method statement detailed in Condition 
1 must be completed and a Verification report submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

3. If, during remediation or construction works, any additional or unexpected 
contamination is identified, then remediation proposals for this material 
should be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any 
works proceed and shall be fully implemented prior to first occupation of the 
dwellings hereby approved.  

 Construction Hours  

 Construction Environmental Management Plan 
 
6.7 Health Development Officer – no objection 
 
 Comments (in full) 

Policy SC/2 b of the 2018 South Cambridgeshire Local Plan states that for 
developments for developments between 20 to 100 dwellings or 1,000 to 
5,000m2 or more floorspace the Health Impact Assessment will take the 
form of an extended screening or rapid Health Impact Assessment. 

 
WHO defines HIA as ‘a combination of procedures, methods and tools by 
which a policy, program or project may be judged as to its potential effects 
on the health of a population, and the distribution of those effects within the 
population’. 
 
As per the Council’s Supplementary Planning Document on Health Impact 
Assessment (HIA SPD) I have reviewed the outline application using the 
HIA Review Package checklist contained in Appendix 3.  The outcome is 
that the Health Impact Assessment as submitted has been assessed 
as grade A.  Grade A meets the required standard of the HIA SPD policy 
(only HIA’s graded A or B are acceptable). 

 
The siting of a dementia research facility at the Care Home would bring 
welcome local expertise.  Creating closer links with local dementia groups 
should be sought to strengthen partnerships and share resource and 

Page 10



knowledge.  Shared use of the sensory garden and talks with local care 
groups is also encouraged. 

 
Welcome the suggestion of creating closer links with Cambridge Regional 
college to provide training and employment opportunities for local residents 
and students. 

 
The report recommends that S106 should be sought to provide onsite 
medical provision via Huntingdon Road Surgery, although attempts to reach 
the surgery have not been possible.  This needs to be conditioned as part 
of the application. It would have been advantageous for the applicants to 
consult the local Alzheimer’s Society on certain design aspects and 
reference how consultation has helped to influence design. 

 
Revised HIA - Satisfied that all points have been addressed and have re-
scored the report accordingly. 

 
As per the Council’s Supplementary Planning Document on Health Impact 
Assessment (HIA SPD) have reviewed the outline application using the HIA 
Review Package checklist contained in Appendix 3.  The outcome is that 
the Health Impact Assessment as submitted has been assessed as grade 
A.  Grade A meets the required standard of the HIA SPD policy (only HIA’s 
graded A or B are acceptable). 

 
Satisfied with the degree of community engagement in particularly the 
involvement of local voluntary sector organisations in addition to academia 
and medical experts. and that stakeholder engagement has influenced and 
shaped the design of this new facility. 
 

6.8 Highways Development Management – No objections  
 

 
6.9 Historic Environment - County Archaeology – No objections.  
 

Have no requirements for archaeology or historic building recording work 
for this scheme and are satisfied that the archaeological desk-based 
assessment and the Heritage Statement contains sufficient information to 
indicate that the survival of archaeological resources is unlikely in the 
development area and to provide enough detail about this much modified 
building for entry in the HER. 
 

6.10 Housing Strategy 
 
 Comments (Summary) 

The proposed development is classified as a C2 development., therefore an 
affordable housing provision would not be required. 

 Conclusion- Whilst we acknowledge that projections show that there will be 
an increase in the older population and that we need to plan for this need, 
the information from the County Council shows that there is sufficient 
provision and pipeline provision to meet this need. 

Page 11



 
 

6.11 Lead Local Flood Authority – no objection 
 
Reviewed the following documents: 

 Route of Ordinary Watercourse 1 of 2, Arc Engineers, Ref 20 106, dated: 
8th June 2021 

 Route of Ordinary Watercourse 2 of 2, Arc Engineers, Ref 20 106, dated: 
8th June 2021 

 Supplementary Notes to FRA and Design Strategy Repot, Arc Engineers, 
Ref 20 106, dated: 17th May 2021 
The above documents demonstrate that surface water from the proposed 
development can discharge via the existing 300mm diameter outfall pipe to 
the watercourse to the east of the site, restricting surface water discharge 
to 3.5l/s. 
The LLFA is supportive of the use of permeable paving as in addition to 
controlling the rate of surface water leaving the site it also provides water 
quality treatment which is of particular importance when discharging into a 
watercourse. 
Water quality has been adequately addressed when assessed against the 
Simple Index Approach outlined in the CIRIA SuDS Manual. 
 
Recommend the following conditions: 

 No laying of services, creation of hard surfaces or erection of a building shall 
commence until a detailed design of the surface water drainage of the site 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  
 

 No development, including preparatory works, shall commence until details 
of measures indicating how additional surface water run-off from the site will 
be avoided during the construction works have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 

6.12 Landscape Officer 
 

Comments (in full) 
The findings of the Landscape and Visual Appraisal are generally 
acceptable. It is considered that the impact of the development on the 
openness of the Greenbelt is negligible due to the existing presence of a 
similarly functioning and sized building as discussed within the report.  The 
new building will be further away from development along White House 
Lane, but it will become closer to the back of properties along The Brambles.  
The gap between the building and both these developments, however, 
remains deep and open. A significant reduction in surface car parking area 
which can be converted into landscaping is also an improvement to the 
overall character and openness of the area. The placement of the new 
building has allowed for the retention of significant trees within and at the 
boundaries of the development site.  

 

Page 12



Significant concerns over the intention to move existing semi-mature trees. 
In all, ten trees are highlighted for relocation. Nine of these trees are 
identified as European Lime ranging from 7.5 to 10 metres tall.  The 
remaining tree is an Atlas Cedar, 8.5 metres tall.   Following discussions 
with the Tree Officer, that while it is possible to achieve, it is neither cheap 
nor easy, and requires a considerable time investment in advance of 
relocation.  Of more concern is the moving of trees which are not particularly 
required for the construction and needs of the new building and we question 
whether there are options which, whilst perhaps, less aesthetic, allow for 
the retention of the trees in situ.  It is considered that the Atlas Cedar, which 
would be the most vulnerable of the proposed trees for relocation, should 
be retained and developed into the landscape scheme.  The limes should 
be considered as per the comments of the Tree Officer and adequate 
confirmation of method and phasing/timing submitted for review.  It is 
considered that some pressure arising from a symmetrical building and 
garden design on the western end of the building is creating this desire to 
relocate trees and we feel this is not a strong enough reason for moving 
trees.  The garden design should react to the context and constraints of its 
environment.  We require a review of the proposed landscape with this key 
consideration in mind and which aims to retain as many trees and possible 
which are not truly in the path of development of the building or a danger.  
Initially, we would require a design which seeks first to retain as many trees 
as possible in coordination with a supplementary methodology and phasing 
plan for any trees remaining which must be moved. 
 
Through the pre-app process the design of the individual patio/private 
amenity for the ground floor rooms was considered and agreed based on 
the health and medical needs of the residents and is acceptable. Other 
features of the retained and proposed landscape are acceptable. The car 
park is split up well and interspersed with tree and shrub planting which 
reduces the visual impact of car parking. 
 
Beyond the intention to relocate mature trees to the boundaries, Landscape 
generally supports the application.   

 
 

6.13 NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

 
Comments (in full) 
In terms of workforce demands, using Arlington Manor as a comparator, the 
direct workload for GP’s from the care home exceed 1.5 GP sessions per 
week (NB a whole time equivalent GP will do 6-8 sessions per week) which 
equates to up to 25% of a GP’s weekly sessional time. On top of this, there 
is the associated admin work required, including medication reviews, 
monthly prescriptions, adhoc requests, and End of life care. Regardless of 
whether or not additional GP’s, admin and clerical staff can be recruited to 
cover this additional need, there is no space to accommodate this extra 
workforce: In terms of physical capacity demands - the Practice’s list size 
already exceeds their capacity: Based on 120m² of Net Internal Area of 

Page 13



physical space per 1750 patients (this is considered the current optimal list 
size for a single GP , aligning with the space requirements set out in the DH 
guidance “Health Building Note 11-01: facilities for Primary and Community 
Care Services”) the maximum weighted list size that the Practice can 
support with their current premises size is 8,225. Their current weighted list 
size is 16,953 so they are already hugely over capacity in terms of space. 
The population growth in the area is significant and this weighted list size 
has increased by over 3000 in the last 4 years, with actualist size growing 
over 5000 in the same timeframe. Serving the Primary Care needs of 
another 80 bed care home within their Practice boundary is simply not 
tenable, as the above figures demonstrate. Particularly if the care home is 
a dementia specialist centre where by the needs of the residents will be 
even greater and place even more pressures on the Practice. 

 
6.14 Policy  

 
Comments (in full) 
There are several sources of evidence regarding the need for care homes 
in South Cambridgeshire. The applicant has commissioned a ‘Headline 
Planning Need Statement’ study from Carterwood and the Greater 
Cambridge Shared Planning service has commissioned a ‘Housing Needs 
for Specific Groups’ study from GL Hearn as part of the Local Plan review 
process. The Headline Planning Needs Statement by the applicant identifies 
a need for 102 bedspaces by 2024 in South Cambridgeshire. This discounts 
all current bedspaces that are not en-suite and increases demand to 
incorporate an occupation capacity allowance. However, it does not 
consider the situation in Cambridge despite the proposed site being on the 
border of Cambridge and South Cambridgeshire. The GL Hearn study found 
a shortfall of 328 bedspaces in 2020 across Greater Cambridgeshire. 
Additional demand was estimated using a range of demographic 
projections. These resulted in a shortfall of bedspaces in 2040 ranging from 
1,884 to 2,048. This shortfall can be disaggregated into a shortfall of 215 to 
259 in Cambridge and 1,668 to 1,789 in South Cambridgeshire. The 
shortfall is not profiled across the 20 year period. However, assuming a flat 
profile would suggest a need for 43 to 52 bedspaces in Cambridge and 334 
to 358 bedspaces in South Cambridgeshire in 2024. Allowance would then 
be required for additional bedspaces likely to be completed by 2024. The 
applicants Headline Planning Needs Statement identified 260 such 
bedspaces in South Cambridgeshire. A new care home with 68 bedspaces 
was also completed in Cambridge in 2021 (flowing the demolition of the 
previous 58 bed care home). Despite the many differences in methodology 
and data sources the two studies have produced broadly similar results 
which suggest a potential shortfall of approximately 100 bedspaces in South 
Cambridgeshire by 2024. The County Council has undertaken its own 
analysis which finds a much lower level of need. The discrepancy is 
due to the County Council estimates being strongly led by a proposed 
change in their commissioning strategy. (Cambridgeshire County 
Council and Peterborough City Council commission 32 per cent of care 
beds across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough). As a result, they will be 
prioritizing supporting people to stay in their own home, or where this is not 

Page 14



possible, to retain as much independence as possible through ‘housing with 
care solutions’. The county council want to support the development of a 
‘mixed market’ with a range of housing options including new models. The 
result is a reduced share of the market for care homes. It should also be 
noted that the County Council are piloting a new ‘Independent Living 
Service’ which it is assumed will support their commissioning strategy and 
a shift away from care homes towards more independent living options. The 
county council project a need for an additional 124 bedspaces in South 
Cambridgeshire from 2020 to 2036 but consider that as there have already 
been 210 permitted there is no further need. The Councils have requested 
further information from the county council so we can better understand how 
their estimates relate to the GL Hearn study, in order to inform the local plan. 
The Councils are currently in the process of reviewing their Local Plans, and 
the Greater Cambridge Local Plan will seek to consider and address the 
range of housing needs including specialist needs. The plan may not be 
adopted until 2025. 

 
6.15 Natural England – No comments. 
 
6.16 Police Architectural Liaison Officer – support 

 

Comments (in full) 

Comments in regard to safety made within the Design and Access 
Statements support that these areas should be addressed with what is 
proposed including the external lighting plan. Supportive and at this time 
have no further comments to make. 

 
6.17 Public Health England (PHE)  
 
 Comments (in full) 

As not a statutory consultee, would not normally comment on this type of 
planning application unless there are specific chemical & environmental 
hazard concerns which have the potential to impact on the health of local 
communities. Impacts on public health from local air quality, noise and 
contaminated land fall under the remit of the local authority and it is their 
responsibility to decide whether or not to comment on these aspects of the 
planning application. 

 
6.18 S106 Officer – no objection 

 
Comments (summary) 
Planning obligations are sought in relation to the following: a) Burial 
provision an offsite contribution of £16,800 b) Monitoring Fees being a 
contribution of £500 
 

6.19 Sustainable Drainage Officer – no objection 
 
 Comments (in full) 

Proposals have properly identified the need of a Flood Risk Assessment, as 
the site area is greater than 1ha. The flood risk assessment should include 

Page 15



an assessment of the flood risk from all sources of flooding. The flood risk 
should include assessment of: fluvial flood risk, mapped surface water, flood 
risk associated with potential overland flow from adjacent steeply sloping 
land, groundwater flood risk, flooding from surface water, foul sewers and 
summary of historic flooding records (if any). 

 
6.20 Sustainability Officer – No objection.  
 
 (Comments – summary) 

Although would favour the reuse of buildings over demolition wherever 
possible, demolition and new construction may be proposed where the 
original structure is no longer fit for purpose, producing a more sustainable 
development.   

 

The applicant has provided an Energy Strategy in support of this application 
which suggests a ‘fabric first’ approach to reducing the energy demand of 
the development via: 

 High fabric efficiency 

 Efficient building services 

 Targeted performance parameters better than the notional Building 
Regulations Part L 

 Mechanical ventilation with heat recovery 

 Low energy lighting throughout 
A Combined Heat and Power (CHP) unit was found to be the most feasible 
low/zero carbon technology for this project based on the findings of a 
feasibility study.  

 
Overheating Risk 
The development consists of a large number of single-aspect dwellings 
which can be prone to overheating. The developer intends to use a 
mechanical ventilation system but would strongly recommend that 
overheating analysis be undertaken for a sample of dwellings (including 
west facing), using current and future climate scenarios. 
 
Water Efficiency 
The applicant has provided a Water Management & Conservation 
Statement which details how water efficient fixtures, fittings and appliances 
will be used to ensure a maximum internal water consumption of 110 
litres/person/day. Building Regulations Part G calculations have been 
carried out, which demonstrate a total water consumption of 105.85 
litres/person/day can be achieved based on the targeted specifications. This 
would make the development compliant with Local Plan Policy CC/4 and if 
the application is approved, this strategy would be made a condition of the 
development  
 
Construction Management Plan 
The applicant suggests that a ‘Resource Management Plan’ (RMP) will be 
produced for the Proposed Development for each phase of construction to 
define measures for how to minimise the volume of waste arising from 
demolition and construction activities, which is sent to landfill. A detailed 

Page 16



Construction Management Plan must be submitted to and approved by the 
local authority, detailing measures to limit demolition waste to landfill and 
ensure the new structure is low in embodied carbon. 
 

6.21 Transport Assessment Team Cambridgeshire County Council – no 
objection 
 
(Comments – summary) 
It is anticipated that the proposed development would result in a net 
reduction of 70 daily vehicle movements, including a reduction of 10 
movements during the AM peak hour, and 12 movements during the PM 
peak hour.  
 
A Travel Plan will be required with any permission granted to include 
incentives such as cycle discount vouchers, free bus taster tickets for staff 
etc. 

 
6.22 Tree Officer – no objections 

 
Comments (in full) 
No arboricultural or hedgerow objections to this application. There is a 
provisional TPO covering this entire site and all species, TPO 0006 (2021) 
served in March (at the request of concerned locals). A Tree Survey and 
Arboricultural Implications Assessment, Preliminary Arboricultural Method 
Statement & Tree Protection Plan (rev A dated 28/04/2021) has been 
submitted. This is sufficient for this stage of the application, but a further 
detailed Tree Protection Plan will be required if the application is approved. 
It should include a schedule of monitoring (specification and records to be 
kept) by a project arborist which the Council can request if required. Please 
also include specific instructions regarding the installation of all the low-level 
lighting, including tree up lighting, which is proposed. 

 
6.23 Urban Design  

 
Comments (in full) 
From a design perspective, do not object to the overall approach to layout, 
massing and elevational treatment of the proposed new care home building 
but observe that the care home building would result in an increase in 
footprint and Gross Internal Floor when compared with that of the existing 
building and approved extensions combined.  

 
The proposal to demolish the existing Victorian building is not a desirable 
option as it is considered to have architectural merits. However, if it is 
demonstrated that it is not feasible to retain the Victorian building, then it is 
important that references to the architectural elements of the Victorian 
building are made in the proposals in order to reflect the history of the 
existing Victorian building in some way. In that respect, the current 
proposals would at least retain one existing feature, i.e. the dog sculpture, 
which is welcome.   

 

Page 17



In terms of siting, the proposed building would be largely sited in a location 
that is similar to that of the existing building, while leaving sufficient 
separation distance between the building and the site’s boundaries taking 
into account: 1) the need to provide a good level of residential amenity; and 
2) respect the sensitive nature of the green belt and views to and from the 
site. As such, the siting of the proposed building is considered acceptable.  

 
Scale and massing  

 
From a design perspective, Officers would not object to the proposed 
footprint and the GIFA which have been designed to meet the operational 
needs of an 80-bed care home. 
 
Layout  
 
The layout of the proposed 80-bed care home is logical and generally well-
considered. Following the last meeting, the applicant has since produced a 
document providing an assessment of the quality of the proposed home 
design against the ten principles set out by the Housing our Ageing 
Population Panel for Innovation (HAPPI), which is helpful.  
 
Given the significant amount of time some of the residents will spend in their 
rooms (as some may prefer to stay in the room instead of staying in the 
communal rooms), it is welcome that all the rooms are provided with 
pleasant outlook and would receive adequate levels of daylight. Whilst there 
are some single-aspect north-facing units, they would be provided with large 
windows/openings and private terraces (to the ground floor units).  

 
The rationale of providing private terraces to all ground floor units is strongly 
supported as this would help ensure their well-being, giving the residents 
and their families the space to have some private outdoor space to connect, 
particularly in light of the Covid-19 pandemic which indicates that access to 
private outdoor space is of significant importance to the vulnerable groups 
of members of our society. It is understood that the residents on the first 
floor would be residents with dementia and so it is not feasible to provide 
them with private amenity space. Officers are satisfied with this approach 
as external terraces are provided to all first floor residents in the form of 
communal amenity space.  

 
The scheme incorporates classical architectural language with well-
proportioned fenestrations. The setbacks introduced to the elevations are 
welcome as they would help to create a more dynamic built form and a more 
varied ridgeline to minimise its perceived bulk.  The revised elevations use 
glazed elements to break up the long elevations, this is supported.  
 

6.24 Victorian Society - object.  
 

Comments (in full) 
Hotel Felix has been extended and altered extensively in line with the 
various changes of use. Moreover, its setting has been developed 

Page 18



considerably, and what was once a modest country house on the outskirts 
of Cambridge, is now part of a much larger hotel complex between modern 
development. However, these changes have not been so unsympathetic as 
to destroy the significance of the remaining building. The core of the 
building, and its attractive façades, particularly the bowed south façade, 
have been retained and continue to contribute towards its architectural 
appeal. We recognise that a Certificate of Immunity has been issued for the 
building, but it is imperative to stress that this does not render a building 
devoid of architectural or historical interest. The criteria for national listing 
has become increasingly strict, and the standard that must be met for post 
1850 country houses is particularly high given their relative abundance 
nationally. Despite recommending refusal for listing, the DCMS report notes 
that this remains an “attractive suburban villa” and references the notable 
south façade and terrace specifically as well. There is a clear opportunity 
here to highlight this remaining architectural attractiveness by removing 
later additions and allowing the original elements to be appreciated in full. 
Citing the additions as justification for total demolition on the other hand 
appears both uninspired and wasteful This building should be viewed as a 
non-designated heritage asset by the local authority. It has clear 
architectural interest and local historical interest as a building 
 

7.0 Third Party Representations 
 

80 representations have been received. Objections: 47, Supporting: 33 
 

7.1 Those in objection have raised the following issues:  
 

 Demolition of a locally listed (non-designated) heritage asset.  
The Victorian part of the Hotel Felix is a distinctive, appealing and 
locally scarce historic building, It is in good repair, and has enormous 
potential for reuse. Demolition would rob us of a much-valued local 
landmark and cultural asset. 

 

 Negative environmental impact of demolishing a structurally sound 
building. The demolition of the entire hotel complex, some of it less 
than twenty years old, would be extremely wasteful of resources. 

 

 Effect on the Girton area (balance of use, lack of need, environmental 
impact) Girton at present does not have a public cemetery. If 
approved, funding to be provided to the community to establish a 
sizeable public cemetery as a matter of urgency. 

 

 The current 'Hotel Felix' plot forms part of the important green gap 
between Girton and Cambridge which should be maintained.  

 

 Proposed removal (or relocation) of substantial trees on this plot to 
allow for the development will be detrimental to the biodiversity of the 
local area.  

 
7.2 Those in support have given the following reasons:  

Page 19



 

 Positive impacts which the care home will deliver to sustain a strong 
social welfare for the elderly. Will provide essential care for the local 
community and benefit the area through creation of employment. 

 

 Society needs to invest in the elderly and people with dementia and 
this specialist care home is beneficial. Offering 80 people essential 
care in the most vulnerable time in their life. 

 

 Care homes must be built to a high standard and through renovation 
of old buildings, this may not be possible.  The replacement building 
is architecturally significant, purpose built, and sustainable building 
which will benefit the area in the future. 

 
7.3 The above representations are a summary of the comments that have been 

received. Full details of the representations are available on the Council’s 
website. 

 
8.0 Member Representations 

 
8.1 Cllr Bygott has made a representation (objecting to) the application on the 

following grounds: 
 

 Design and Construction SPD states: 4.6.1 "The construction industry is the 
single largest user of materials in the UK. 420 million tonnes of materials 
are consumed in construction annually. In addition to this, about 10% of 
national I am writing to request that the planning application 21/00953/FUL, 
which is to demolish a magnificent Victorian building known as the Hotel 
Felix on Huntingdon Road Girton, be called in to the Planning Committee, 
unless there is an officer decision for refusal or it is referred to a Design 
Review Panel. Material planning grounds for refusal of the application are 
contained in the attached document. 

 The Hotel Felix www.hotelfelix.co.uk is locally listed on the Cambridgeshire 
Historic Environment Record (CHER) with number 05482 under one of its 
former names, Howe House (which has since become the name of the 
modern house next door). After Girton College and the Parish Church, it is 
the most substantial historic building in Girton. As far as I am aware, it is the 
most significant heritage building to have been proposed for demolition in 
South Cambridgeshire during my 15 years as a District Councillor. As can 
be seen in the photographs on the above website, the Victorian building is 
in excellent condition, having been fully restored in 2002. 

 The applicant, a subsidiary of Venture Capital firm Melford Capital Partners 
LLP, has not demonstrated that the demolition of the Victorian villa is 
necessary in order to construct an 80 bed care home on the site. The 
desired outcome of a Design Review Panel would be to recommend 
preserving the villa and building the care home next toit. The Victorian 
building has many potential ancillary uses such as offices, staff or visitor 
accommodation. 
 
 

Page 20



The National Planning Policy Framework states: 

 "Local planning authorities should assess whether the benefits of a proposal 
for enabling development, which would otherwise conflict with planning 
policies but which would secure the future conservation of a heritage asset, 
outweigh the disbenefits of departing from those policies." 

 This shows that Policy NH/9 should not require the care home to have fewer 
beds if the Victorian villa is preserved. 

 Our Sustainable energy consumption is used in the production and 
transport of construction products and materials." 

 It is not environmentally sustainable for us to allow perfectly usable 
buildings in an excellent state of repair to be demolished whenever there is 
a short term change in demand for various uses. This applies not only to the 
Victorian building, which is capable of surviving in active use for many 
centuries to come (and possibly indefinitely with the correct maintenance), 
but also the modern additions built in 2002 and 2008 which have more than 
sixty years remaining of their design lives. 

 Planet Earth does not have infinite resources, and it is shameful that 
building materials should be wasted in this way. 
 

 
9.0 Local Groups / Petition 

 
Not applicable  

 
 

10.0 Assessment 
 

10.1 Principle of Development 
 

10.2 The site is located outside of the development framework boundary of 
Girton and in the Cambridge Green Belt. The site is considered to be 
previously developed land occupied by a Victorian villa which was most 
recently used as a hotel (Former Hotel Felix). 
 

10.3 There are no Local Plan policies which seek to safeguard against the loss 
of visitor accommodation therefore, no objections are raised in this regard. 
 

10.4 Policy S/2 of the Local Plan sets out how the vision for the Local Plan will 
be secured through the achievement of six key objectives including to 
ensure that all new development provides or has access to a range of 
services and facilities that support healthy lifestyles and well-being for 
everyone, including shops, schools, doctors, community buildings, cultural 
facilities, local open space, and green infrastructure (criterion e).  
 

10.5 Care homes are largely self functioning and do not rely heavily on a range 
of services within the community, save for health, in terms of primary care. 
They serve an important function in providing a specific type of housing to 
meet the needs of people requiring care in their day to day lives. In this 

Page 21



instance, the focus is on provision of dementia care. The proposal is 
therefore not considered to conflict with policy S/2. 
 

10.6 Policy S/6 of the Local Plan sets out the Council’s development strategy and 
a hierarchical approach to new housing in the district, with a descending 
order of preference given to on the edge of Cambridge, at new settlements 
and only limited development at Rural Centres and Minor Rural Centres. 
The site is located within the Cambridge Green Belt between the village of 
Girton and Cambridge and is therefore, outside the development framework 
of both settlements. As such it conflicts with policy S/7 of the Local Plan 
which states that outside development frameworks, only allocations within 
Neighbourhood Plans that have come into force and development for 
agriculture, horticulture, forestry, outdoor recreation and other uses which 
need to be located in the countryside or where supported by other policies 
in this plan will be permitted. Whilst policy S/7 seeks to protect the 
countryside from gradual encroachment on the edges of villages and help 
guard against incremental growth in unsustainable locations, spatially, the 
site is not in conflict with policy S/6. Nevertheless, its location within the 
context of the Cambridge Green Belt is discussed in more detail below. 
 

10.7 The site is outside the development framework of Girton and Cambridge 
and therefore, the proposal is contrary to policy S/7. However, this is 
considered more widely in the context of previously developed land in the 
Green Belt.  
 

10.8 The proposal is for an 80 bed care home providing residential care, nursing 
care and dementia care.  Half of the units (40) will be dedicated to dementia 
care. Paragraph 62 of the NPPF, in the context of seeking to significantly 
boost the supply homes, recognises the need for a range of housing within 
different groups in the community such as older people. “Older people” is 
defined within the NPPF as; people over or approaching retirement age, 
including the active, newly retired through to the very frail and elderly; and 
whose housing needs can encompass accessible, adaptable general needs 
housing through the full range of retirement and specialised housing for 
those with support or care needs. Policy H/9 of the Local Plan reiterates the 
need for a wide choice of housing and the supporting text identifies that the 
population of the district is ageing (in the age band 64-74 up to 7% of 
residents will be classified as frail) and there are a range of models that can 
play a part in providing specialist accommodation for older people. These 
include care homes. 
 

10.9 A key fact noted in the Local Plan is an ageing population with growth 
forecast between 2001 to 2021 of 95% for the 60-74 age group and 108% 
for those 75+. The Cambridgeshire Older People’s Strategy identifies that 
between 2011-2036 it is projected that South Cambridgeshire will 
experience a 100% increase in the over 65s. There is also a significant 
growing incidence of dementia in older people and by 2025 it is estimated 
that over 1 million people in the UK will have a diagnosis of dementia. The 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Adult Social Care Market Position 
Statement 2018/19 identifies a number of key challenges including the lack 

Page 22



of capacity to deliver nursing and nursing dementia care for older people in 
some areas of Cambridgeshire and a shortage of residential dementia, 
nursing and nursing dementia provision is South Cambridgeshire and 
Cambridge City.  
 

10.10 In allowing the recent appeal for a retirement village at Stapleford 
(December 2021), the Inspector noted the need for care home beds in the 
market area submitted by the appellant was unchallenged and that the 
Council’s own analysis for the emerging local plan suggested the figures 
may be underestimates. The applicant has used the same company, 
Carterwood, to assess need for care beds in relation to this application. The 
applicant’s needs assessment states that the earliest the proposed care 
home could be made available is 2023. The applicant has considered need 
as of 2023, with those aged 65+ at risk of requiring care in a residential 
setting is for 1071 bed spaces within South Cambridgeshire. Including an 
occupancy capacity allowance (i.e. effective full capacity) of 92%, this 
increases to 1,161 bed spaces. In terms of specialist dementia care, the 
need to support the number of people at risk of requiring dedicated 
dementia care within South Cambridgeshire is 488 bed spaces increasing 
to 529 with the occupancy capacity allowance. 
 

10.11 The applicant has also assessed existing supply to 2023 noting that a 
market standard bed space should provide a minimum of en-suite WC and 
wash hand basin. Within the local authority area there are 18 care homes 
providing 964 registered bed spaces, 84% (812 bed spaces) which meet 
the applicant’s market standard. In terms of specialist dementia bedspaces 
the total existing supply is 289 bedspaces.  
 

10.12 In terms of planned supply, the applicant has assessed applications which 
have been granted since December 2017. The applicant has estimated that 
by 2023, 250 market bedspaces will be delivered, of which 110 will be for 
dementia care. The demonstrates a need for circa 100 bedspaces in the 
general market and 240 for specialist dementia care bedspaces. A summary 
of the figures above are set out in the table below. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page 23



 All beds Dementia beds 

Need 

Total Demand (including 

capacity allowance) for 

those aged 65+ 

1161 529 

Supply 

Existing beds (en-suites) 812 179 

Planned beds (by 2023) 250 110 

Total Supply 1062 289 

Balance of Need 99 240 

 

10.13 The Council, in preparing its evidence base for the emerging Greater 
Cambridge Local Plan, has also commissioned a report for Housing Need 
for Specific Groups (October 2021). This report is broadly consistent with 
the applicant’s findings, which suggest a potential shortfall of bedspaces in 
South Cambridgeshire Council have identified a much lower need. 
However, they have not explained the associated rationale, although the 
County as part of their commissioning strategy will be prioritising people 
staying in their own home for as long as possible and promoting 
independence through housing with care solutions. 
 

10.14 In allowing the appeal at Stapleford the Inspector notes that the provision of 
C2 housing comprises part of the overall housing requirement and that 
sufficient land for housing development has been identified for the next 6 
years (now 6.5 years). The 5 year housing land supply was not contested 
however, the Inspector considered this was not sufficient. Evidence was 
also provided (and uncontested) which highlighted that unless sites are 
specifically allocated for C2 development, the developers of such schemes 
are unable to compete for sites in the housing land supply market with the 
providers of C3 general housing accommodation and so, the delivery of C2 
development will be restricted. The Inspector goes on to note that; “despite 
a plethora of studies, the Council’s approach has not delivered and is not 
expected to deliver special care housing in anything like sufficient quantities. 
No policy nor any allocation in the Local Plan requires a specific proportion 
of dwellings to be delivered as special care housing”. 
 

10.15 The NPPF and Local Plan identify a need for a variety of housing to support 
different groups within the community. The Council’s own evidence 
corroborates that of the applicant’s in terms of a shortfall in bedspaces in 

Page 24



the general market and also for dementia care in South Cambridgeshire. 
Furthermore, given the local plan policy restrictions for ensuring land for C2 
housing can come forward, officers are satisfied that the need for a care 
facility which specialises in dementia care, has been appropriately 
demonstrated. As such no objections are raised to the principle of the 
proposed care home subject to other material considerations which are 
discussed below. 

 
Principle of Development in the Green Belt 

 
10.16 The application site is located within the Cambridge Green Belt with no 

statutory designations for landscape character or quality covering the site. 
Proposals within the Green Belt are assessed against the guidance set out 
in Section 13 of the NPPF in addition to the Council's own Green Belt 
policies. The NPPF states that the fundamental aim of the Green Belt is to 
prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential 
characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their permanence. 
There is a strong emphasis on the presumption against inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt, which is by definition harmful. Any identified 
harm will be given substantial weight. 
 

10.17 Policy S/4 of the Local Plan sets out that new development in the Green 
Belt will only be approved in accordance with Green Belt policy in the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

10.18 Policy NH/8 of the Local Plan states that any development proposals within 
the Green Belt must be located and designed so that they do not have an 
adverse effect on the rural character and openness of the Green Belt. 
Where development is permitted, landscaping conditions, together with a 
requirement that any planting is adequately maintained, will be attached to 
any planning permission in order to ensure that the impact on the Green 
Belt is mitigated. 
 

10.19 Policy NH/9 of the Local Plan states that redevelopment of Previously 
Developed Sites and Infilling in the Green Belt will be inappropriate 
development except for:  
 

The partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed sites 
(brownfield land), whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding 
temporary buildings), which would not have a greater impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt and the purpose of including land within 
it than the existing development. 

 
Appropriateness of Development  
 

10.20 The Government attaches great importance to Green Belts. The 
fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping 
land permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green Belts are their 
openness and their permanence (NPPF, paragraph 137). 
 

Page 25



10.21 As defined by paragraph 138 of the NPPF 2021, the Green Belt serves five 
purposes: (a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; (b) to 
prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; (c) to assist in 
safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; (d) to preserve the 
setting and special character of historic towns; and (e) to assist in urban 
regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban land. 
 

10.22 Paragraph 149 of the NPPF states that the construction of new buildings in 
the Green Belt should be regarded as inappropriate, though there are 
exceptions to this defined at Paragraphs 149 and 150. As such, the 
assessment first determines whether the development would be 
inappropriate or not. Paragraph 149(g) is relevant to this application: "limited 
infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed 
land, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary 
buildings), which would not have a greater impact on the openness of the 
Green Belt than the existing development". The application site comprises 
Previously Developed Land (PDL), otherwise known as brownfield land, 
which would be redeveloped. An assessment is made on whether the 
proposed development would have a greater impact on the openness of the 
Green Belt than the existing. 
 

10.23 There is no specific definition of “openness” in the NPPF. National Planning 
Practice Guidance (NPPG) states that openness can have both spatial and 
visual aspects. Case law has established that the concept of openness is 
not narrowly limited to a volumetric approach but visual effects should also 
be given appropriate weight when these are a relevant consideration for the 
assessment of the impact on the Green Belt’s openness. 
 

10.24 When considering the impact on the openness of the Green Belt, this is not 
affected by natural screening (i.e: trees and hedgerows) as these are not 
permanent features; openness means the absence of buildings or 
development. When openness is reduced, harm takes place regardless of 
whether it is visible or witnessed. Measures in mitigation can never 
completely remove the harm since a development that is wholly invisible to 
the eye remains, by definition, adverse to openness.  
 

10.25 The application site within a ‘green finger’ of land, known as the Girton Gap. 
This is an area of Green Belt bounded by Huntingdon Road to the 
southwest, to the north-western side by residential properties in Thornton 
Road and The Brambles and the Development Framework Boundary of the 
village of Girton, to the southeast by Whitehouse Lane in the city and to the 
north-east by public footpath 99/13. To the opposite side of Whitehouse 
Lane is NIAB building and the city of Cambridge. 
 

10.26 This area of land includes the Howes Close Sports Ground to the north-
eastern end and playing fields in the south-western end, both of which are 
used by Anglian Ruskin University. This area of land clearly separates the 
edge of the city of Cambridge from the suburban part of Girton. The existing 
Hotel Felix is located within the Girton Gap and bridges this green gap. 
 

Page 26



10.27 The proposals would result in an increase in footprint of 165m2 (13%) and 
an increase in volume of 33%; when compared with that of the existing 
building. The increased volume in mainly due to the overall increase in 
building height. This is the result of modern architectural standards, which 
require greater floor-to-ceiling heights across the whole scheme, compared 
to the existing. However, there is a circa 16% decrease in the perimeter of 
the development. 
 

10.28 The applicant argues that despite the increase in proposed volume, the 
perceived built form is less intrusive than the existing as a result of its 
compact form (decrease in overall perimeter) and relocation towards the 
northwest of the Site. The gap between the urban edges is increased and 
the local quality of openness of the Green Belt related to undeveloped land 
is improved. There are opportunities for the development to result in making 
more of the Green Belt open through removal of development such as hard 
standings and parking areas and replacement with soft landscaping. 
 

10.29 The north-western end of the proposed building is approximately in line with 
the adjacent dwelling to the north and has moved marginally further towards 
the northwest and Girton.  The southwestern elevation of the proposed 
building is set further back from the Whitehouse Lane frontage, although 
this elevation is now a full two storeys. However, it will be sited closer to the 
back of properties along The Brambles in Girton. The proposed building’s 
footprint would be larger than the existing and the proposed height, although 
not higher than the existing, would have a greater extent of development at 
more than one storey. The proposed building would be more compact, but 
it would be two storeys across its footprint. In terms of visual impact on the 
landscape, the findings of the submitted Landscape and Visual Appraisal 
are that in visual terms the proposal would have no greater impact on the 
‘openness’ of the Green Belt and does not result in adverse effects on the 
qualities of the Green Belt. 
 

10.30 Landscape Officers consider that the impact of the development on the 
openness of the Green Belt is negligible due to the existing presence of a 
similarly functioning and sized building. The entrance to the site from 
Whitehouse Lane would be altered to create a curved configuration to 
create a less formal entry route to the site and the amount of car parking 
areas would be reduced.  This would reduce the visual impact of the 
proposal as viewed from Whitehouse Lane and would help to increase the 
visual separation between the building and the lane.  A significant reduction 
in surface car parking area which can be converted into landscaping is also 
an improvement to the overall character and openness of the area. The 
placement of the new building has allowed for the retention of significant 
trees within and at the boundaries of the development site. 
 

10.31 Nevertheless given the increase in footprint and volume and the visual 
perception of being closer to properties in The Brambles, Girton, on 
balance, officers consider that the spatial and visual harm would have a 
greater impact upon the openness of the Green Belt and is therefore, 
inappropriate development. Although this impact is not considered 

Page 27



significant, it does amount to harm to the Green Belt. The proposal would 
therefore, conflict with policy NH/9 of the Local Plan, although this policy 
makes no reference to whether very special circumstances (VSCs) can be 
demonstrated. Nevertheless, officers are of the view that the development 
would fail to comply with Paragraph 149g of the NPPF. The NPPF states 
that very special circumstances will not exist unless the potential harm to 
the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting 
from the proposal, is clearly outweighed by other considerations. The 
assessment now considers whether there are any VSCs to justify the 
proposed development, and if so what weight these are considered to carry. 
The harm identified must be given substantial weight and will be considered 
along with any other harm identified in relation to other material planning 
considerations assessed in this report. The VSCs will then be weighed 
against all identified harm. 
 
Very Special Circumstances 
 

10.32 The Applicant has advanced a number of matters which they consider 
amount to very special circumstances which clearly outweigh the harm to 
the Green Belt. 
 

Critical need for housing for older people 
 

10.33 NPPF requires that the needs of specific housing groups are addressed. 
There are no allocated sites for care homes in the Local Plan. This was 
supported in the appeal decision at Stapleford in weighing the planning 
balance and whether very special circumstances existed. Supported by 
PPG, which states, ”the need to provide housing for older people is critical”. 
In addition, with application S/3418/17 considered in March 2018, the 
Authority accepted that the level of need for care bed spaces at that time 
was sufficient to represent very special circumstances. That need has not 
materially diminished. 
 
Critically needed dementia care facilities 
 

10.34 NPPF requires that the needs of specific housing groups are addressed, yet 
there is a critical shortfall of spaces available and no site allocations in the 
Local Plan for dementia care bed spaces. 
 
Improves choice of care bedspaces 
 

10.35 Provides a better choice of accommodation to suit changing needs, 
providing health benefits (as supported by PPG) and encourages take-up of 
bed spaces, thereby avoiding people having to live in inappropriate 
accommodation. 
 

The development will indirectly contribute to the housing land supply within 
the district  
 

Page 28



10.36 Although not formally a part of the housing land supply requirements, 80 
beds could release 42 homes from underoccupancy, reducing the housing 
need requirement in an area where there is substantial housing need. This 
was given limited weight in the Stapleford appeal where a much greater 
number of houses (134) were estimated could be released into the local 
housing market. 
 
The site would provide economic benefits by generating jobs, in the 
construction and operational phases of the development and by residents 
spending locally. 
 

10.37 The new care home will provide a net increase in new jobs, generating 
around 115 direct jobs. The new jobs will offer a variety of roles with a mix 
of full and part time opportunities. In addition to onsite jobs, the Dementia 
Research Centre will provide training and research into dementia care, 
helping to upskill the sub regional population and support the voluntary 
sector. There will also be a number of indirect jobs created through the 
construction work and the supply chain. An investment of £25million locally, 
creating 115 jobs. 
 

There would be social benefits in specialised age friendly housing 

 

10.38 The Health Impact Assessment in support of the application confirms that 
the proposal will have a positive impact on new and existing residents by 
delivering a range of health benefits. This includes the provision of 
communal facilities to encourage resident’s social interaction and 
engagement with the wider community. The proposal will also increase local 
housing choice and allow more older people to stay close to existing friends 
and family in the community. Health, wellbeing and social benefits to the 
residents and wider community; The proposed development co-locates a 
Dementia Research Centre with residential and nursing care, providing 
unique support for people with Dementia and their carers. It will relieve 
pressure on an overstretched NHS and local authority health services as 
private pay model. 
 

The scheme would deliver significant environmental benefits 
 

10.39 The scheme will result in a significant Biodiversity Net Gain at the site. A 
Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment prepared by Ecology Solutions uses the 
Biodiversity Metric 2.0 to calculate a net gain of 74.49% in habitats and 
38.72% gain in linear features based on the proposed landscaping scheme.  
 

The openness of the green belt is improved through the removal of parking 
and increased landscaping 
 

10.40 Landscape officer comments have confirmed that the impact of the 
development on the openness of the Green Belt is ‘negligible’ and that the 
significant reduction in surface car parking area which can be converted to 
landscaping is also ‘an improvement to the overall character and openness 

Page 29



of the area’. Whilst officers note the landscape officer comments and that 
there will be some improvements through reduced surface car parking, on 
balance, openness is not considered to be improved and therefore, this is 
not considered to be a VSC. 
 

10.41 In summary, the proposal would meet an identified need for specialist C2 
housing with a focus on dementia care and provision of a Dementia 
Research Centre. The proposal would provide economic benefits including 
additional employment through the construction and operational phases. 
The site is also previously developed land within the Green Belt. These 
factors are considered to carry significant weight as VSCs. The other 
benefits such as release of existing housing stock, improved choice of 
bedspaces, social benefits, biodiversity enhancements within the Green 
Belt and economic multiplier effects of increased expenditure are less 
outstanding and carry more moderate-limited weight but nevertheless also 
contribute as VSCs. Nevertheless, taken together, officers consider these 
factors do amount to very special circumstances which outweigh what is a 
balanced assessment regarding harm to the Green Belt. 
 

10.42 The identified circumstances must be assessed against the identified harm. 
Paragraph 148 of the NPPF states that VSCs will not exist unless potential 
harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm 
resulting from the proposal, is clearly outweighed by other considerations. 
In terms of other identified harm, the remainder of this report assesses the 
impact of the development to identify where this harm may exist. All 
identified harm will be weighed in the planning balance, against the 
circumstances that have been identified. 
 

Impact upon Landscape Character 
 

10.43 The NPPF requires decisions to recognise the intrinsic character and 
beauty of the countryside. Policy NH/2 of the Local Plan requires new 
development to respect and retain or enhance the local character and 
distinctiveness of the local landscape. Policy NH/6 states the Council will 
aim to conserve and enhance green infrastructure within the district. As 
noted above the application site is set within a green gap between Girton 
and Cambridge and is occupied by a former hotel building. The site is not 
identified as being located within a valued landscape or the subject of any 
statutory designation. Although the proposed built form is volumetrically 
larger and has a slightly larger footprint, its visual impact in terms of a 
building seen in the context of the wider landscape will be broadly similar.  
The landscape officer has not raised an objection with regard to the impact 
of the proposed building in the wider landscape and as such the proposal is 
not considered to conflict with the NPPF or Local Plan in this regard. 
 
Design, Layout, Scale and Landscaping 
 

10.44 The NPPF places great importance on design quality, noting that good 
design is a key aspect of sustainable development; Paragraph 134 states 
that development that is not well designed should be refused. 

Page 30



Developments should add to the overall quality of the area, be visually 
attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and 
effective landscaping, and should be sympathetic to local character and 
history including the surrounding built environment. 
 

10.45 Policy HQ/1 ‘Design Principles’ provides a comprehensive list of criteria by 
which development proposals must adhere to, requiring that all new 
development must be of high-quality design, with a clear vision as to the 
positive contribution the development will make to its local and wider 
context. The District Design Guide SPD (2010) and Landscape in New 
Developments SPD (2010) provide additional guidance.  
 

10.46 From a design perspective, the proposed footprint and the GIFA have been 
designed to meet the operational needs of an 80-bed care home. The 
scheme incorporates classical architectural language with well-proportioned 
fenestrations. The setbacks introduced to the elevations help to create a 
more dynamic built form and a more varied ridgeline to minimise its 
perceived bulk and glazed elements contribute to break up the long 
elevations.  In terms of siting, the proposed building would be largely sited 
in a location that is similar to that of the existing building, while leaving 
sufficient separation distance between the building and the site’s 
boundaries taking into account: 1) the need to provide a good level of 
residential amenity; and 2) respect the sensitive nature of the green belt and 
views to and from the site. As such, the siting of the proposed building is 
considered acceptable. 
 

10.47 The layout of the proposed 80-bed care home is logical and an assessment 
of the quality of the proposed home design against the ten principles set out 
by the Housing our Ageing Population Panel for Innovation (HAPPI), has 
been made. The replacement building, which is of a high architectural 
quality, would be highly sustainable and would provide a high quality care 
home, built to 21st century standards with a high level of amenity for future 
residents.  
 

10.48 Overall, the proposed development is a high-quality design that would 
contribute positively to its surroundings and be appropriately landscaped. 
The proposal is compliant with the NPPF and South Cambridgeshire Local 
Plan (2018) policies HQ/1. 
 

Trees 
 

10.49 Policies NH/2, NH/4 and HQ/1 seek to preserve, protect and enhance 
existing trees and hedges. Para. 131 of the NPPF seeks for existing trees 
to be retained wherever possible.  
 

10.50 The application is accompanied by an Arboricultural Impact Assessment. 
The proposal entails the relocation of 10 existing semi-mature trees, (nine 
European Lime and one Atlas Cedar) on the west side of the site to suit the 
formality of the proposed landscape design and the Landscape Officer has 

Page 31



raised concern regarding the proposed intention to relocate some semi-
mature trees (between 8-10m tall) from the central areas of the site and 
move them to the boundaries.  However, the tree officer has not raised an 
objection, although notes it is an expensive and time consuming process. 
Relocation of existing trees is not objected to in principle, subject to 
appropriate transplanting measures being implemented and will ensure 
existing semi-mature trees contribute to the landscape setting of the 
building.  
 

10.51 The Council’s Tree Officer has advised that there is a provisional TPO 
covering this entire site and all species, TPO 0006 (2021).  
A Tree Survey and Arboricultural Impact Assessment, Preliminary 
Arboricultural Method Statement (PAMS) & Tree Protection Plan (rev A 
dated 28/04/2021) has been submitted. This is sufficient for this stage of the 
application, but a further detailed Tree Protection Plan and AMS will be 
required by condition. A landscaping scheme will also be secured by 
condition and any transplanted tree that subsequently dies will be expected 
to be replaced.   
 

10.52 Subject to conditions as appropriate, the proposal would accord with 
policies NH/2, NH/4 and HQ/1 of the Local Plan. 
 

Heritage Assets 
 

10.53 Policy NH/14 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan (2018) requires 
development affecting heritage assets to sustain or enhance the character 
and distinctiveness of those assets. Development proposals will be 
supported when they sustain and enhance the special character and 
distinctiveness of the district’s historic environment including its villages and 
countryside and its building traditions and details: and they create new high 
quality environments with a strong sense of place by responding to local 
heritage character including in innovatory ways.  
 

10.54 Paragraph 195 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should 
identify and assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may 
be affected by a proposal (including by development affecting the setting of 
a heritage asset) taking account of the available evidence and any 
necessary expertise. They should take this into account when considering 
the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or minimise any 
conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of the 
proposal. 
 

10.55 Paragraph 197 of the NPPF states that there is a general preference in 
favour of retaining any heritage asset. However, the desirability of doing so 
is dependent on the significance of the asset and the effect the development 
would have on its significance. 
 

10.56 Paragraph 203 NPPF 2021 states: “The effect of an application on the 
significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into 

Page 32



account in determining the application. In weighing applications that directly 
or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement 
will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the 
significance of the heritage asset”. 
 

10.57 The existing building is the subject of certificate of immunity from listing. 
Whilst it is recognised that a Certificate of Immunity has been issued for the 
building, this does not render the building devoid of architectural or historical 
interest. A building may be assessed as a Non-Designated Heritage Asset 
(NDHA) during the consideration of a development proposal as stated in 
Historic England’s Advice Note 7 (second edition) in paragraph 27.  
 

10.58 National Planning Policy Guidance states that “non-designated heritage 
assets are buildings, monuments, sites, places, areas or landscapes 
identified by plan-making bodies as having a degree of heritage significance 
meriting consideration in planning decisions, but which do not meet the 
criteria for designated heritage assets. A substantial majority of buildings 
have little or no heritage significance and thus do not constitute heritage 
assets. Only a minority have enough heritage significance to merit 
identification as non-designated heritage assets.” (Paragraph: 039 
Reference ID: 18a-039-20190723). 
 

10.59 South Cambridgeshire does not have published list of local heritage assets 
although have used Cambridge City Councils’ (Part of the Greater 
Cambridge Shared Planning Service) published criteria for designating 
Buildings of Local Interest (BLIs) as a guide to assess the building’s 
significance. The Conservation officer notes the building is a typical 
example of a villa of the well-to-do professionals building houses in this 
period. It also has some historic interest in that it had locally notable 
owners/occupants and was in institutional use by the County Council for 
some time and will be remembered by users. Although the planning practice 
guidance notes that only a minority of buildings have enough significance 
to merit identification as NDHAs, the Conservation Officer is of the opinion 
that this modest significance indicates that the building can be categorised 
as an NDHA. 
   

10.60 The existing building does not benefit from protection against demolition 
through listing status or through being located within a Conservation Area. 
Demolition can be carried out under Schedule 2, Part 11 of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 
(as amended), Class B through the submission of a prior approval where 
only the method of demolition is under consideration and not the principle 
of demolition.  
 

10.61 There are no policies within the adopted Local Plan, NPPF or Sustainability 
SPD that seek to retain existing buildings on the grounds that it is not a 
sustainable approach to development to demolish. The applicant has set 
out in detail, why it is not economic or practical to convert the existing 
building. The replacement building would comply with SPD and 
sustainability policies as discussed later in this report.  

Page 33



 

10.62 Given these circumstances, officers are of the view that the loss of a Non-
Designated Heritage Asset carries limited weight. This loss is balanced 
against a replacement building which is of a high architectural quality, highly 
sustainable and would provide a high quality care home, built to 21st century 
standards with a high level of amenity for future residents. The proposal will 
also result in other benefits such meeting an identified care need, provision 
of a dementia research centre, biodiversity improvements and jobs growth. 
These benefits are considered to outweigh the harm. 
 

10.63 The proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with the NPPF 
and Local Plan policy NH/14.  
 

Carbon Reduction and Sustainable Design 
 

10.64 The Councils’ Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (2020) sets out a 
framework for proposals to demonstrate they have been designed to 
minimise their carbon footprint, energy and water consumption and to 
ensure they are capable of responding to climate change as required by 
policy CC/1.  
 

10.65 Policy CC/3 ‘Renewable and Low Carbon Energy’, requires that Proposals 
for new dwellings and new non-residential buildings of 1,000m2 or more will 
be required to reduce carbon emissions by a minimum of 10% through the 
use of on-site renewable energy and low carbon technologies. 
 

10.66 Policy CC/4 ‘Water Efficiency’ requires that all new residential 
developments must achieve as a minimum water efficiency to 110 litres pp 
per day and for non-residential buildings to achieve a BREEAM efficiency 
standard equivalence of 2 credits. Paras 152 – 158 of the NPPF are 
relevant.  
 

10.67 Although the reuse of buildings is favoured over demolition wherever 
possible, demolition and new construction may be acceptable where the 
original structure is no longer fit for purpose, and the replacement building 
produces a more sustainable development.  
 

10.68 The application is supported by an Energy Strategy which suggests a ‘fabric 
first’ approach to reducing the energy demand of the development via: 

 

 High fabric efficiency 

 Efficient building services 

 Targeted performance parameters better than the notional 
Building Regulations Part L 

 Mechanical ventilation with heat recovery 

 Low energy lighting throughout 
 

10.69 The application has been subject to formal consultation with the Council’s 
Sustainability Officer who raises no objection to the proposal subject to 

Page 34



conditions relating to carbon reduction technologies and water efficiency. 
The applicant has suitably addressed the issue of sustainability and 
renewable energy and subject to conditions the proposal is compliant with 
Local Plan policies CC/1, CC/3 and CC/4 and the Greater Cambridge 
Sustainable Design and Construction SPD 2020. 

 
Biodiversity 
 

10.70 The Councils’ Biodiversity SPD (2022) require development proposals to 
deliver a net gain in biodiversity following a mitigation hierarchy which is 
focused on avoiding ecological harm over minimising, rectifying, reducing 
and then off-setting. This approach accords with policy NH/14 which 
outlines a primary objective for biodiversity to be conserved or enhanced 
and provides for the protection of Protected Species, Priority Species and 
Priority Habitat. 
 

10.71 The application is accompanied by a preliminary ecological appraisal 
Ecology Assessment (Ecology Solutions, October 2020). This appraisal 
identified the existing building as a potential bat roost and that a licence 
from Natural England would be required to remove the roost. A biodiversity 
net gain assessment has also been submitted which demonstrates a net 
gain of 74.49% in habitats and 38.72% gain in linear features based on the 
proposed landscaping scheme. 
 

10.72 The application has been subject to formal consultation with the Council’s 
Ecology Officer, who raises no objection to the proposal and recommends 
several conditions to ensure the protection of species and the estimated 
biodiversity net gain is delivered.  
 

10.73 In consultation with the Council’s Ecology Officer, subject to an appropriate 
condition, officers are satisfied that the proposed development complies 
with policy NH/14, the Biodiversity SPD 2022, the requirements of the 
Environment Act 2021 and 06/2005 Circular advice. 
 

Water Management and Flood Risk 
 

10.74 Policies CC/7, CC/8 and CC/9 of the Local Plan require developments to 
have appropriate sustainable foul and surface water drainage systems and 
minimise flood risk. Paras. 159 – 169 of the NPPF are relevant. 
 

10.75 The site is in Flood Zone 1 and is therefore considered at low risk of flooding.  
 

10.76 The applicants have submitted a Flood Risk Assessment. 
 

10.77 The Council’s Sustainable Drainage Engineer has advised conditions are 
required and the Local Lead Flood Authority has advised the application has 
demonstrated that surface water from the proposed development can 
discharge via the existing 300mm diameter outfall pipe to the watercourse 
to the east of the site, restricting surface water discharge to 3.5l/s. The LLFA 

Page 35



is supportive of the use of permeable paving as in addition to controlling the 
rate of surface water leaving the site it also provides water quality treatment 
which is of particular importance when discharging into a watercourse. 
 
The applicants have suitably addressed the issues of water management 
and flood risk, and subject to conditions the proposal is in accordance with 
Local Plan policies CC/7, CC/8 and CC/9 and NPPF advice. 
 
Highway Safety and Transport Impacts 
 

10.78 Para. 111 of the NPPF advises that development should only be prevented 
or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact 
on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network 
would be severe.  Policy HQ/1 states that proposals must provide safe and 
convenient access for all users and abilities to public buildings and spaces, 
including those with limited mobility or those with impairment such as sight 
or hearing. Policy TI/2 requires developers to demonstrate adequate 
provision will be made to mitigate the likely impacts of the proposed 
development and, for larger developments, to demonstrate they have 
maximised opportunities for sustainable travel, and provided a Transport 
Assessment and Travel Plan. 
 

10.79 The application is supported by a Transport Assessment. Access to the site 
would be from the existing entrance/exit from Whitehouse Lane. 
 

10.80 The application has been subject to formal consultation with 
Cambridgeshire County Council’s Local Highways Authority and Transport 
Assessment Team, who raise no objection to the proposal subject to 
condition requiring a Travel Plan. 

 

10.81 Subject to conditions, the proposal accords with the objectives of policy TI/2 
of the Local Plan and is compliant with NPPF advice. 
 

Cycle and Car Parking Provision 
 

10.82 Policies HQ/1 and TI/3 set out that car and cycle parking provision should 
be provided through a design-led approach in accordance with the 
indicative standards set out in Figure 11 of the Local Plan. Cycle parking 
should be provided to at least the minimum standards. 

 

Cycle Parking 
10.83 Policy TI/3 requires 1 cycle parking space per 2 staff working at the same 

time. 
 

10.84 The supporting text advises that for residential purposes cycle parking 
should be within a covered, lockable enclosure and that for houses this 
could be in the form of a shed or garage, for flats either individual lockers or 
cycle stands within a lockable, covered enclosure are required. All cycle 

Page 36



parking should be designed and located to minimise conflict between 
cycles, pedestrians and vehicles.  
 

10.85 22 cycle spaces have been provided in a cycle store. This is acceptable. 
 

Car Parking 
 

10.86 Policy TI/3 requires 1 car parking space per residential staff plus 1 car 
parking space per 3 bed spaces. 
 

10.87 The supporting text to the policy advises that the Council will encourage 
innovative solutions such as shared parking areas, for example where there 
are a mix of day and night uses, car clubs and provision of electric charging 
points and that a developer must provide clear justification for the level and 
type of parking proposed and will need to demonstrate they have addressed 
highway safety issues. 
 

10.88 The Greater Cambridge Sustainable Design and Construction SPD outlines 
the standards for EV charging at one slow charge point for each dwelling 
with allocated parking, one slow charge point for every two dwellings with 
communal parking (at least half of all non-allocated parking spaces) and 
passive provision for all the remaining car parking spaces to provide 
capability for increasing provision in the future. 31 parking spaces including 
two disabled bays are proposed. This is considered to meet the requirement 
per bedspaces.  
 

10.89 Subject to conditions, the proposal is considered to accord with policies 
HQ/1 and TI/3 of the Local Plan and the Greater Cambridge Sustainable 
Design and Construction SPD. 
 

Amenity  
 

10.90 Policy HQ/1 (n), sets out that proposals must protect the health and amenity 
of occupiers and surrounding uses from development that is overlooking, 
overbearing or results in a loss of daylight or development which would 
create unacceptable impacts such as noise, vibration, odour, emissions and 
dust.  
 

10.91 The District Design Guide 2010 advises that to prevent the overlooking of 
habitable rooms to the rear of residential properties and rear private 
gardens, it is preferable that a minimum distance of 15m is provided 
between the windows and the property boundary. For two storey residential 
properties, a minimum distance of 25m should be provided between rear or 
side building faces containing habitable rooms, which should be increased 
to 30m for 3 storey residential properties. It advises that a 12 metre 
separation is allowed where blank walls are proposed opposite the windows 
to habitable rooms.  
 

Page 37



Neighbouring Properties 
 

10.92 The site lies adjacent to the rear gardens of neighbouring properties to the 
north east in Thornton Close. There is a separation of approximately 13 
metres to the common boundary and a distance of approximately 27 metres 
between existing dwellings and the proposed care home. Residential 
properties to the north west in The Brambles are separated from the 
proposal by a distance of approximately 43 metres. The proposal will not 
result in harm in terms of loss of light, loss of privacy or be visually 
overbearing to adjacent neighbouring properties as the proposed care home 
occupies a similar position to the existing building on the site. 
 

Future Occupants 
 

10.93 The quality of the proposed home design has been assessed against the 
ten principles set out by the Housing our Ageing Population Panel for 
Innovation (HAPPI). Each resident would have 43.5sqm including a wet 
room, internal seating area and access to a garden. The accommodation is 
therefore, considered to be of a high quality. 
 

10.94 Given the significant amount of time some of the residents will spend in their 
rooms (as some may prefer to stay in the room instead of staying in the 
communal rooms), all the rooms are provided with pleasant outlook and 
would receive adequate levels of daylight. Whilst there are some single-
aspect north-facing units, they would be provided with large 
windows/openings and private terraces (to the ground floor units).  There 
are a number of west facing single aspect rooms which can be prone to 
overheating. It is noted by the Council’s sustainability officer that the 
developer intends to use a mechanical ventilation system but would strongly 
recommend that overheating analysis be undertaken for a sample of 
dwellings (including west facing), using current and future climate scenarios. 
This now forms part of the Building Regulations (Part O). 
 

10.95 Providing private terraces to all ground floor units would help ensure their 
well-being, giving the residents and their families the space to have some 
private outdoor space to connect, particularly in light of the Covid-19 
pandemic which indicates that access to private outdoor space is of 
significant importance to the vulnerable groups of members of our society. 
It is understood that the residents on the first floor would be residents with 
dementia and so it is not feasible to provide them with private amenity 
space, however external terraces are provided to all first floor residents in 
the form of communal amenity space. 
 

Page 38



10.96 The proposal is considered to provide a good level of amenity for future 
occupiers and will not harm the amenity of adjacent residents as such it is 
in accordance with the NPPF and policy HQ/1 of the Local Plan. 
 
 
Health and wellbeing of new and existing residents 
 

10.97 Policy SC/2 of the Local Plan requires that all new developments will have 
a positive impact on the health and wellbeing of new and existing residents. 
Planning applications for developments between 20 to 100 dwellings or 
1,000 to 5,000m2 or more floorspace musts be accompanied by a Health 
Impact Assessment to demonstrate this. The Council has also adopted a 
Health Impact Assessment SPD which is a material consideration. 
 

10.98 A Health Impact Assessment (HIA) is a method of considering the positive 
and negative impacts of development on the health of different groups in 
the population, in order to enhance the benefits and minimise any risks to 
health. The Health Impact Assessment submitted has been assessed 
against the criteria in the “Review package for health impact assessment 
reports of development projects” which enables the Council to reach an 
opinion as to the quality of the completed HIA report. The assessment has 
been graded A – which is compliant with the requirements of the SPD. No 
objection has been raised by the Council’s Health Development Officer. 
 

10.99 The submitted plans show a consulting room for a visiting GP as well as a 
therapy room. As a care home the applicant employ their own nurses 
directly so this has a beneficial reduction on any visits to or from a GP. It is 
usual for the residents (who are usually local) to be already registered with 
one of the local GP’s prior to moving to the care home. As part of the day to 
day operations of the care home, the local surgery have confirmed that 
provision of GP services will be agreed between the care home operator 
and appointed surgery. This agreement falls outside the planning process. 
 

10.100 The proposal is considered to comply with policy SC/2 of the Local Plan. 
 

Construction and Environmental Health Impacts 
 

10.101 The land contamination, air quality and noise and vibrational impacts 
associated with the construction and occupation of the site are addressed 
by Local Plan policies CC/6 ‘Construction Methods’, CC/7 ‘Water Quality’, 
SC/9 ‘Lighting Proposals’, SC/10 ‘Noise Pollution’, SC11 ‘Contaminated 
Land’, SC/12 ‘Air Quality’ and SC/14 ‘Odour’. Paragraphs 183 - 188 of the 
NPPF are relevant. 
 

10.102 The Council’s Environmental Health Team have assessed the application 
and recommended conditions are attached to ensure appropriate mitigation 
during the construction period and necessary mitigation with regard to 
potential land contamination.  
 

Page 39



10.103 The associated construction and environmental impacts would be 
acceptable in accordance with policies CC/6, CC/7, SC/9, SC/10, SC/12 
and SC/14 of the Local Plan. 
 

Other Matters 

 

10.104 LP policy TI/10 ‘Broadband’ requires new development to contribute 
towards the provision of infrastructure suitable to enable the delivery of 
high-speed broadband services across the District. A condition is proposed 
to ensure this provision.  

 
Planning Obligations (S106) 
 

10.105 The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 have introduced the 
requirement for all local authorities to make an assessment of any planning 
obligation in relation to three tests. If the planning obligation does not pass 
the tests then it is unlawful. The tests are that the planning obligation must 
be: 

 
(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  
(b) directly related to the development; and  
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 
10.106 Policy TI/8 ‘Infrastructure and New Developments’ states that Planning 

permission will only be granted for proposals that have made suitable 
arrangements for the improvement or provision of infrastructure necessary 
to make the scheme acceptable in planning terms. The nature, scale and 
phasing of any planning obligations and/or Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) contributions sought will be related to the form of the development and 
its potential impact upon the surrounding area. 
 
Heads of Terms 
 

10.107 The Heads of Terms (HoT’s) as identified are to be secured within the S106 
and are set out in the summary table below: 

 
 

Obligation Contribution / Term Trigger 

Community facilities 
- Burial 

£16,800 Tbc 

 
Burial provision 
 

10.108  Girton Parish Council request a S106 regarding an amount for burial services. 
All housing developments will include or contribute to the provision of the 
services and facilities necessary to meet the needs of the development. The 
scale and range of this provision or contribution will be appropriate to the 
level of need generated by the development and will address the specific 
needs of different age groups, of people with disabilities, and faith groups 

Page 40



10.113 

10.112 

10.114 

10.115 

and will be adaptable to population growth and demographic changes. The 
full range of services and facilities are likely to be required in new 
settlements and similar developments. The community facilities and 
services to be provided include provision for burials. Girton has a traditional 
churchyard, which is almost completely full, with some `family graves' which 
surviving relatives wish to fill. 

 
10.109  The Section 106 Officer requests that the above development mitigates its        

impact by contributing towards the provision of additional burial plots in 
Girton. The methodology for £210 per dwelling, is supported by a planning 
appeal (APP/W0530/W/17/3187048 Para 48 and 51 – Land north east of 
Rampton Road, Cottenham.) A contribution of £16,800 is necessary to 
mitigate the impact of an 80 bed care home. 

 
10.110 The applicant is willing to enter into a s106 planning obligation with regards 

to burial contributions and monitoring costs and for the trigger for payment 
to be prior to occupation of the care home. 

 
10.111 The planning obligation is considered necessary, directly related to the 

development and fairly and reasonably in scale and kind to the development 
and therefore the required planning obligation(s) passes the tests set by the 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 and are in accordance 
with Policy TI/8 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan (2018). 

   
Planning Balance 
Planning decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan 
unless there are material considerations that indicate otherwise(section 
70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and section 38[6] of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  

 
The proposed development is considered to be inappropriate development 
in the Green Belt. However, the loss of openness is considered in the context 
of replacing an existing building. A number of circumstances have been 
identified to justify why the harm identified is outweighed by other 
considerations. Paragraph 148 of the NPPF states that 'very special 
circumstances will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt, and 
any other harm resulting from the proposal, is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations'. 

 
Substantial weight is given to the harm caused to the Green Belt by reason 
of inappropriateness. Significant weight is given to the harm caused to the 
loss of openness to the Green Belt while significant weight is also given to 
the harm caused to the conflict with the purposes of the Green Belt. 
Substantial weight is accorded to the overall harm to the Green Belt.  

 
The proposal would also result in the loss of a Non-Designated Heritage 
Asset which is considered of modest significance. The building is not 
protected by virtue of being Listed (it is immune from such designation) or 
located in a Conservation Area. Furthermore, the Council has not identified 
any other buildings of local heritage interest within the Local Plan. As such, 

Page 41



10.116 

10.117 

10.118 

Officers attach limited weight to this in terms of other harm caused by the 
proposal. 

 
A case for VSCs has been set out in support of the proposal. The care home 
would meet an identified need for specialist C2 housing with a focus on 
dementia care and provision of a Dementia Research Centre. The proposal 
would provide economic benefits including additional employment through 
the construction and operational phases. The site is also previously 
developed land within the Green Belt. These factors are considered to carry 
significant weight as VSCs. The other benefits such as release of existing 
housing stock, improved choice of bedspaces, social benefits, biodiversity 
enhancements within the Green Belt and economic multiplier effects of 
increased expenditure are less outstanding and carry moderate-limited 
weight but nevertheless also contribute as VSCs.  

 
Therefore, it is Officers judgement that the case for VSCs would clearly 
outweigh the identified harm that would arise as a result of the development, 
even assigning that harm substantial weight as per national policy. The case 
for planning permission is thus made out. 

 
Having taken into account the provisions of the development plan, NPPF and 
NPPG guidance, the views of statutory consultees and wider stakeholders, 
as well as all other material planning considerations, such as the very special 
circumstances, the proposed development is recommended for approval. 

 
11.0  Recommendation 

 
11.1 Approve subject to:  

 
-The planning conditions as set out below with minor amendments to the 
conditions as drafted delegated to officers.  

 
-Satisfactory completion of a Section 106 Agreement which includes the 
Heads of Terms (HoT’s) as set out in the report with minor amendments to 
the Heads of Terms as set out delegated to officers. 
 

11.2 In the event that the application is refused, and an Appeal is lodged against 
the decision to refuse this application, delegated authority is sought to allow 
officers to negotiate and complete the Planning Obligation required in 
connection with this development. 

 
Recommended Conditions 

 
 
 

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this permission. 

  

Page 42



 Reason: In accordance with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

 
 2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 

with the approved plans as listed on this decision notice. 
  
 Reason:  In the interests of good planning, for the avoidance of doubt 

and to facilitate any future application to the Local Planning Authority 
under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
 3 No laying of services, creation of hard surfaces or erection of a building 

shall commence until a detailed design of the surface water drainage of 
the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Those elements of the surface water drainage system 
not adopted by a statutory undertaker shall thereafter be maintained and 
managed in accordance with the approved management and 
maintenance plan. 

 The scheme shall be based upon the principles within the agreed 
Drainage Strategy Report prepared by Arc Engineers (ref: 20 106) dated 
February 2021 and shall also include: 

 a) Full calculations detailing the existing surface water runoff rates for the 
QBAR, 3.3% Annual Exceedance Probability (AEP) (1 in 30) and 1% 
AEP (1 in 100) storm events; 

 b) Full results of the proposed drainage system modelling in the above-
referenced storm events (as well as 1% AEP plus climate change), 
inclusive of all collection, conveyance, storage, flow control and disposal 
elements and including an allowance for urban creep, together with an 
assessment of system performance; 

 c) Detailed drawings of the entire proposed surface water drainage 
system, attenuation and flow control measures, including levels, 
gradients, dimensions and pipe reference numbers, designed to accord 
with the CIRIA C753 SuDS Manual (or any equivalent guidance that may 
supersede or replace it); 

 d) Full detail on SuDS proposals (including location, type, size, depths, 
side slopes and cross sections); 

 e) Details of overland flood flow routes in the event of system 
exceedance, with demonstration that such flows can be appropriately 
managed on site without increasing flood risk to occupants. 

 f) Demonstration that the surface water drainage of the site is in 
accordance with DEFRA non-statutory technical standards for 
sustainable drainage systems. 

 g) Full details of the maintenance/adoption of the surface water drainage 
system. 

 h) Permissions to connect to a receiving watercourse or sewer. 
 i) Measures taken to prevent pollution of the receiving groundwater 

and/or surface water. 
  
 Reason: To ensure that the proposed development can be adequately 

drained and to ensure that there is no increased flood risk on or off site 

Page 43



resulting from the proposed development and to ensure that the 
principles of sustainable drainage can be incorporated into the 
development, noting that initial preparatory and/or construction works 
may compromise the ability to mitigate harmful impacts. Reason - To 
ensure a satisfactory method of surface water drainage and to prevent 
the increased risk of flooding in accordance with Policies HQ/1, CC/7, 
CC/8 and CC/9 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 
 4 No development, including preparatory works but excluding demolition, 

shall commence until details of measures indicating how additional 
surface water run-off from the site will be avoided during the construction 
works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The applicant may be required to provide collection, 
balancing and/or settlement systems for these flows. The approved 
measures and systems shall be brought into operation before any works 
to create buildings or hard surfaces commence. 

  
 Reason: To ensure surface water is managed appropriately during the 

construction phase of the development, so as not to increase the flood 
risk to adjacent land/properties or occupied properties within the 
development itself; recognising that initial works to prepare the site could 
bring about unacceptable impacts. 

 
 5 Before any works on site commence a detailed Arboricultural Method 

Statement, Tree Protection Strategy and Schedule of Monitoring shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Authority, including 
details of timing of events, protective fencing and ground protection 
measures. This should comply with BS5837. The tree protection 
measures shall be installed in accordance with the approved tree 
protection strategy before any works commence on site. The tree 
protection measures shall remain in place throughout the construction 
period and may only be removed following completion of all construction 
works.  

  
 6 Prior to the commencement of site clearance a pre-commencement site 

meeting shall be held and attended by the site manager, the 
arboricultural consultant and LPA Tree Officer to discuss details of the 
approved AMS.  

  
 Reason: To satisfy the Local Planning Authority that trees to be retained 

will not be damaged during any construction activity, including demolition, 
in order to preserve arboricultural amenity in accordance with section 197 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and South Cambridgeshire 
Local Plan 2018 Policy NH/4. 

  
 
 7 The approved tree protection methodology will be implemented 

throughout the development and the agreed means of protection shall be 
retained on site until all equipment, and surplus materials have been 
removed from the site. Nothing shall be stored or placed in any area 

Page 44



protected in accordance with approved tree protection plans, and the 
ground levels within those areas shall not be altered nor shall any 
excavation be made without the prior written approval of the local 
planning authority. If any tree shown to be retained is damaged, remedial 
works as may be specified in writing by the local planning authority will 
be carried out.   

  
 Reason:  To satisfy the Local Planning Authority that trees to be retained 

will not be damaged during any construction activity, including demolition, 
in order to preserve arboricultural amenity in accordance with section 197 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and South Cambridgeshire 
Local Plan 2018 Policy NH/4. 

 
 8 If any tree shown to be retained on the approved tree protection 

methodology is removed, uprooted, destroyed or dies within five years of 
project completion, another tree shall be planted at the same place and 
that tree shall be of such size and species, and shall be planted at such 
time, as may be specified in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason: To satisfy the Local Planning Authority that arboricultural 

amenity will be preserved in accordance with section 197 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 and South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 
2018 Policy NH/4. 

 
 9 No development with the exception of demolition shall take place until:  
  
 a. The application site has been subject to a detailed scheme for the 

investigation and recording of contamination and remediation objectives 
have been determined through risk assessment and agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  

 b. Detailed proposals for the removal, containment or otherwise 
rendering harmless any contamination (the Remediation method 
statement) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

  
 Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users 

of the land neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that 
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with Policy 
SC/11 of the adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018.  

 
10 Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, the 

works specified in any remediation method statement detailed in 
Condition 9 must be completed and a Verification report submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

  
 Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users 

of the land neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that 

Page 45



the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with Policy 
SC/11 of the adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018.  

 
11 If, during remediation or construction works, any additional or unexpected 

contamination is identified, then remediation proposals for this material 
should be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any 
works proceed and shall be fully implemented prior to first occupation of 
the care home hereby approved. 

  
 If during the development contamination not previously identified is found 

to be present at the site, such as putrescible waste, visual or physical 
evidence of contamination of fuels/oils, backfill or asbestos containing 
materials, then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until the 
developer has submitted, and obtained 

 written approval from the Local Planning Authority for, a remediation 
strategy detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with. 
The remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason:  To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users 

of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that 
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with Policy 
SC/11 of the adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 

 
12 No demolition or construction works shall commence on site until a traffic 

management plan has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  

  
 The principal areas of concern that should be addressed are: 
  
 i) Movement and control of muck away vehicles (all loading and 

unloading should be undertaken where possible off the adopted public 
highway) 

 ii) Contractor parking, with all such parking to be within the curtilage of 
the site where possible 

 iii) Movements and control of all deliveries (all loading and unloading 
should be undertaken off the adopted public highway where possible.) 

 iv) Control of dust, mud and debris, and the means to prevent mud or 
debris being deposited onto the adopted public highway. 

  
 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 

details.  
  
 Reason: To ensure that before development commences, highway safety 

will be maintained during the course of development. (South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 Policy CC/9) 

Page 46



 
13 No development (including any site clearance/preparation works) shall be 

carried out until a Construction Environmental Management Plan has 
been submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing.  

  
 The plan shall include the following matters: - 
  
 a) Piling methods (if employed); 
 b) Earthworks; 
 c) Hoardings to the site, 
 d) Noise limits; 
 e) Hours of working; 
 f) Vibration; 
 g) Control of emissions; 
 h) Waste management and disposal and material re use;  
 (i) anticipated nature and volumes of waste 
 (j)measure to ensure the maximisation of the reuse of waste 
 (k)measures to ensure effective segregation of waste at source including 

waste sorting, storage, recovery and recycling facilities to ensure the 
maximisation of waste materials both for use within and outside the site. 

 (l) any other steps to ensure the minimisation of waste during 
construction 

 (m) the location and timing of provision of facilities pursuant to criteria 
b/c/d 

 (n) the proposed timing of submission of a Waste Management Closure 
Report to demonstrate the effective implementation, management and 
monitoring of construction waste during the construction lifetime of the 
development. 

 and, 
 o) Materials storage; and hazardous material storage and removal. 
  
 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 

details 
   
 Reason: To protect the amenity of the locality, especially for people living 

and/or working nearby, in accordance with Policy HQ/1 of the adopted 
Local Plan 2018. 

 
14 No construction site machinery or plant shall be operated, no noisy works 

shall be carried out and no construction related deliveries taken at or 
dispatched from the site except between the hours of 0800-1800 Monday 
to Friday, 0800-1300 Saturday and not at any time on Sundays or Bank 
or Public holidays.  

  
 Reason: To protect the amenity of the locality, especially for people living 

and/or working nearby, in accordance with Policy CC/6 of the South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

  
15 All ecological measures and/or works shall be carried out in accordance 

with the details contained in the Ecology Assessment (Ecology Solutions, 

Page 47



October 2020) as already submitted with the planning application and 
agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior to determination. 

  
 Reason: To maintain, enhance, restore or add to biodiversity in 

accordance with Policies S/3, HQ/1 and NH/4 of the South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

  
16 Prior to the commencement of development above slab level a scheme 

of biodiversity enhancement shall be supplied to the local planning 
authority for its written approval. The scheme must include details as to 
how a measurable net gain in biodiversity has been accomplished. The 
approved scheme shall be fully implemented within an agreed timescale 
unless otherwise agreed in writing.  

  
 Reason: To maintain, enhance, restore or add to biodiversity in 

accordance with Policies S/3, HQ/1 and NH/4 of the South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 
17 Prior to occupation a "lighting design strategy for biodiversity" features or 

areas to be lit shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The strategy shall: a) Identify those areas/features on 
site that are particularly sensitive for bats and that are likely to cause 
disturbance in or around their breeding sites and resting places or along 
important routes used to access key areas of their territory, for example, 
for foraging; and b) show how and where external lighting will be installed 
(through the provision of appropriate lighting contour plans and technical 
specification) so that it can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit 
will not disturb or prevent the above species using their territory or having 
access to their breeding sites and resting places.  

  
 It should also provide details of the installation of all the low-level lighting, 

including tree up lighting, which is proposed.  
  
 All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the 

specifications and locations set out in the strategy, and these shall be 
maintained thereafter in accordance with the strategy. Under no 
circumstances should any other external lighting be installed without prior 
consent from the local planning authority.  

  
 Lighting shall not be installed in the canopy of trees. If lighting is 

proposed, a bat roost assessment of the tree shall be undertaken and 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  

  
 The approved lighting scheme shall be installed, maintained and 

operated in accordance with the approved details / measures. 
  
 Reason: To minimise disturbance, harm or potential impact upon 

protected species in accordance with Policies S/3, HQ/1 and NH/4 of the 
South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 and their protection under the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  

Page 48



 
18 No development above ground level, other than demolition, shall 

commence until details of a hard and soft landscaping scheme have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These details shall include: 

  
 a) proposed finished levels or contours; car parking layouts, other vehicle 

and pedestrian access and circulation areas; hard surfacing materials; 
minor artefacts and structures (e.g. Street furniture, artwork, play 
equipment, refuse or other storage units, signs, lighting, CCTV 
installations and water features); proposed (these need to be coordinated 
with the landscape plans prior to be being installed) and existing 
functional services above and below ground (e.g. drainage, power, 
communications cables, pipelines indicating lines, manholes, supports); 
retained historic landscape features and proposals for restoration, where 
relevant; 

 b) planting plans; written specifications (including cultivation and other 
operations associated with plant and grass establishment); schedules of 
plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities 
where appropriate and an implementation programme; 

 c) boundary treatments indicating the type, positions, design, and 
materials of boundary treatments to be erected. 

 d) a landscape maintenance and management plan, including long term 
design objectives, management responsibilities and maintenance 
schedules for all landscape areas. 

 e)any trees to be translocated and their means of protection and 
establishment 

  
 Reason: To ensure the development is satisfactorily assimilated into the 

area and enhances biodiversity in accordance with Policies HQ/1 and 
NH/4 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 
19 All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out and maintained in 

accordance with the approved details. The works shall be carried out 
prior to the occupation of any part of the development or in accordance 
with a programme agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. If 
within a period of five years from the date of the planting, or replacement 
planting, any tree or plant is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, 
another tree or plant of the same species and size as that originally 
planted shall be planted at the same place as soon as is reasonably 
practicable, unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent 
to any variation. 

  
 Reason: To ensure the development is satisfactorily assimilated into the 

area and enhances biodiversity and to ensure that the impact on the 
Green Belt is mitigated in accordance with Policies HQ/1, NH/4 and NH/8 
of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 
20 The proposed drive way be constructed so that its falls and levels are 

such that no private water from the site drains across or onto the adopted 

Page 49



public highway. Please note that the use of permeable paving does not 
give the Highway Authority sufficient comfort that in future years water 
will not drain onto or across the adopted public highway and physical 
measures to prevent the same must be provided. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy 

HQ/1 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 
 
21 Prior to the first occupation or bringing into use of the development, 

hereby permitted, two pedestrian visibility splays of 2m x 2m shall be 
provided each side of the vehicular access measured from and along the 
highway boundary. Such splays shall be within the red line of the site and 
shall thereafter be maintained free from obstruction exceeding 0.6m 
above the level of the adopted public highway. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy 

HQ/1 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018.  
  
22 The new proposed drive shall be constructed using a bound material, for 

the first five metres from the boundary of the adopted public highway into 
the site, to prevent debris spreading onto the adopted public highway. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy 

HQ/1 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 
 
23 No occupation of the building shall commence until a Travel Plan has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The Travel Plan shall specify:the methods to be used to 
discourage the use of the private motor vehicle and the arrangements to 
encourage use of alternative sustainable travel arrangements such as 
public transport, car sharing, cycling and walking how the provisions of 
the Plan will be monitored for compliance and confirmed with the local 
planning authority The Travel Plan shall be implemented and monitored 
as approved upon the occupation of the development.  

  
 Reason: In the interests of encouraging sustainable travel to and from 

the site in accordance with Policy TI/2 of the South Cambridgeshire Local 
Plan 2018. 

 
24 The approved renewable/low carbon energy technologies (as set out in 

the Energy Strategy Report, Version P2, May 2021) shall be fully 
installed and operational prior to the occupation of the development and 
thereafter maintained in accordance with a maintenance programme, 
details of which shall have previously been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority.  

  
 Where grid capacity issues subsequently arise, written evidence from the 

District Network Operator confirming the detail of grid capacity and a 
revised Energy Statement to take account of this shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The revised 

Page 50



Energy Statement shall be implemented development and thereafter 
maintained in accordance with the approved details 

  
 Reason: In the interests of reducing carbon dioxide emissions and to 

ensure that development does not give rise to unacceptable pollution 
(South Cambridgeshire District Council Local Plan 2018, policy CC/3 and 
Greater Cambridge Sustainable Design and Construction SPD) 

 
25 No part of the care home hereby permitted shall be occupied until a 

water efficiency specification for the proposed development, based on 
the Water Efficiency Calculator Methodology or the Fitting Approach set 
out in Part G of the Building Regulations 2010 (2015 edition), has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  This 
shall demonstrate that all dwellings are able to achieve a design standard 
of water use of no more than 110 litres/person/day and the development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the agreed details. 

  
 Reason:  To ensure that the development makes efficient use of water 

and promotes the principles of sustainable construction (South 
Cambridgeshire District Council Local Plan 2018 policy CC/4 and the 
Greater Cambridge Sustainable Design and Construction SPD 2020). 

 
26 The care home hereby approved shall not be occupied until the care 

home has been made capable of accommodating Wi-Fi and suitable 
ducting (in accordance with the Data Ducting Infrastructure for New 
Homes Guidance Note) has been provided to the public highway that can 
accommodate fibre optic cabling or other emerging technology, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  

  
 Reason: To ensure sufficient infrastructure is provided that would be able 

to accommodate a range of persons within the property and improve 
opportunities for home working and access to services, in accordance 
with policy TI/10 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018.  

 
27 No permanent connection to the electricity distribution network shall be 

established until an electric vehicle charge point scheme has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   

  
 The approved scheme shall be fully installed before the development is 

occupied and retained as such. 
  
 Reason:  In the interests of encouraging more sustainable modes and 

forms of transport and to reduce the impact of development on local air 
quality (South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 policy CC/3 and the 
Greater Cambridge Sustainable Design and Construction SPD 2020) 

 
28 No occupation of the building shall commence until a Travel Plan has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The Travel Plan shall specify the methods to be used to 
discourage the use of the private motor vehicle and the arrangements to 

Page 51



encourage use of alternative sustainable travel arrangements such as 
public transport, car sharing, cycling and walking how the provisions of 
the Plan will be monitored for compliance and confirmed with the local 
planning authority The Travel Plan shall be implemented and monitored 
as approved upon the occupation of the development.  

  
 Reason: In the interests of encouraging sustainable travel to and from 

the site in accordance with Policy TI/2 of the South Cambridgeshire Local 
Plan 2018. 

 
29 Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 Schedule 2 of the Town and 

Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that order with or without 
modification), the premises shall be used for a residential care home and 
for no other purpose (including any other purposes in Class C2 of the 
Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use 

 Classes) (England) Order 1987 or in any provision equivalent to that 
Class in any statutory instrument revoking or re-enacting that Order with 
or without modification). 

  
 Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt, and because use of the building 

has been identified as a care home. (South Cambridge Local Plan 2018  
Policy HQ/1. 

 
30 The care home hereby approved shall only be occupied by persons aged 

at least 55 years. 
  
 Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt, and because use of the building 

has been identified as a care home (South Cambridge Local Plan 2018 
Policy HQ/1. 

 
31 Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, with 

the exception of below ground works, drawings at a scale of 1:10 
showing details of the material finish and colour of windows and doors, 
sills, reveals, lintels, jambs, transoms, and mullions shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that the appearance of the development is 

satisfactory. (South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 policy HQ/1) 
  
 
32 No development shall take place above ground level, except for 

demolition, until details of all the materials for the external surfaces of 
buildings to be used in the construction of the development have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The 
details shall include include non-masonry walling systems, brickwork, 
windows, doors and entrances, porches and canopies, roof cladding, 
balustrades and rain water goods. Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.  

Page 52



  
 Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the development 

does not detract from the character and appearance of the area (South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 policy HQ/1). 

  
 
33 Before starting any external finishes, a sample panel of the facing 

materials to be used shall be erected on site to establish the detail of the 
materials palette and shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority. The quality of finish and materials incorporated in any 
approved sample panel(s), which shall not be demolished prior to 
completion of development, shall be maintained throughout the 
development. 

  
 Reason: To ensure the appearance of the development is satisfactory in 

accordance with Policy HQ/1 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 
2018. 

 
34 The development, hereby permitted, shall not be occupied until details of 

the refuse storage has been provided within the site in accordance with a 
scheme to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the occupation of the development and 
thereafter retained. 

  
 Reason: To provide for the screened storage of refuse in accordance 

with Policy HQ/1 of the adopted Local Plan 2018. 
 
35 Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved, a scheme for 

the provision and location of fire hydrants to serve the development to a 
standard recommended by the Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall not be occupied until the approved 
scheme has been implemented. 

  
 Reason: To ensure an adequate water supply is available for emergency 

use. 
 
36 Prior to first occupation of the development, hereby permitted, or 

commencement of the use, full details of facilities for the covered, secure 
parking of bicycles for use in connection with the development shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
facilities shall be provided in accordance with the approved details before 
the development is occupied or the use commences and shall be 
retained in accordance with the approved details thereafter. 

  
 Reason: To ensure appropriate provision for the secure storage of 

bicycles in accordance with Policy HQ/1 and TI/3 of the South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

Page 53



37 Prior to first occupation of the development, hereby permitted, or 
commencement of the use, the car parking spaces shall be provided in 
accordance with the approved details and shall be retained in 
accordance with the approved details thereafter. 

  
 Reason: To ensure appropriate provision for the parking of vehicles in 

accordance with Policy HQ/1 and TI/3 of the South Cambridgeshire Local 
Plan 2018. 

 
 
 

Informatives 

 
 
 
 1 The granting of a planning permission does not constitute a permission or 

licence to a developer to carry out any works within, or disturbance of, or 
interference with, the Public Highway. A separate permission must be 
sought from the Highway Authority for such works. 

 
 2 No part of any structure may overhang or encroach under or upon the public 

highway unless licensed by the Highway Authority and no gate/ door/ 
ground floor window shall open outwards over the public highway. 

 
 3 Public utility apparatus may be affected by this proposal. Contact the 

appropriate utility service to reach agreement on any necessary alterations, 
the cost of which must be borne by the applicant. 

 
 4 Fire Service vehicle access should be provided in accordance with 

Approved Document B Volume 1 of the Building Regulations. There should 
be vehicle access for a pump appliance to within 45m of all points within the 
dwelling-house in accordance with paragraph 11.2 of Approved Document 
B Volume 1. Where the proposed new dwelling cannot meet access 
requirements for fire appliances, compensatory feature(s) should be 
provided. 

 
 5 The granting of permission and or any permitted development rights for any 

Air Source Heat Pump (ASHP) does not indemnify any action that may be 
required under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 for statutory noise 
nuisance. Should substantiated noise complaints be received in the future 
regarding the operation and running of an air source heat pump and it is 
considered a statutory noise nuisance at neighbouring premises a noise 
abatement notice will be served. It is likely that noise insulation/attenuation 
measures such as an acoustic enclosure and/or barrier would need to be 
installed to the unit in order to reduce noise emissions to an acceptable 
level.   

  
 To avoid noise complaints it is recommended that operating sound from the 

ASHP does not increase the existing background noise levels by more than 

Page 54



3dB (BS 4142 Rating Level - to effectively match the existing background 
noise level) at the boundary of the development site and should be free from 
tonal or other noticeable acoustic features. In addition equipment such as 
air source heat pumps utilising fans and compressors are liable to emit more 
noise as the units suffer from natural aging, wear and tear. It is therefore 
important that the equipment is maintained/serviced satisfactory and any 
defects remedied to ensure that the noise levels do not increase over time. 

 
 6 In order to facilitate the upgrade of heating systems to efficient (i.e. heat 

pump) electric heating, radiators shall be sized and fitted on the basis of 
running at a maximum of 45°C flow temperature to all residential units. In 
addition, for all residential units identify an appropriate space for external air 
source heat pump units that are acceptable within permitted development 
requirements for noise, proximity to boundaries and physical size and 
provide valved and blanked pipe work connections between the external 
unit and the primary heating installations (heating pump and hot water tank) 
to enable the use of the heat pump system with minimum disruption upon 
gas boiler removal. The hot water tank is to incorporate sufficient heat 
exchanger area and storage volume to allow a designated heat pump 
system with domestic hot water capabilities to be used without the need for 
replacement or upgrade. 

 
 7 The Council recommends the use of low NOx boilers i.e. appliances that 

meet a dry NOx emission rating of 40mg/kWh, to minimise emissions from 
the development that may impact on air quality. 

 
 8 The dust management plan should reference and have regard to various 

national and industry best practical technical guidance such as:  
 -Guidance on the assessment of dust from demolition and construction, 

version 1.1 (IAQM, 2016)  
 -Guidance on Monitoring in the Vicinity of Demolition and Construction 

Sites, version 1.1 (IAQM, 2018) 
 
 9 To satisfy the condition requirements the applicant / developer will need to 

demonstrate that practical consideration has been given to all aspects of 
Electric Vehicle (EV) charge point infrastructure installation and that the 
provision of an operational EV charge point or multiple points is deliverable, 
as part of the residential and/or commercial development. The intention or 
commitment in principle to install an active EV charge point will not be 
considered acceptable. Information should include numbers of charge 
points, intentions for active and passive provision, location, layout (including 
placement of EV infrastructure), Charge Rates of active EV charge points 
(slow, rapid or fast) and availability of power supply. 

 
10 To satisfy and discharge Environmental Health recommended conditions 

(including those related to construction / demolition, operational artificial 
lighting, contaminated land, noise / sound, air quality (including Electric 
Vehicle Charging)  and odours / fumes / smoke, any impact assessment 
and mitigation as required, should be in accordance with the scope, 
methodologies and requirements of relevant sections of the Greater 

Page 55



Cambridge Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning 
Document, (2020). Due regard should also be given to relevant and current 
up to date Government / national and industry British Standards, Codes of 
Practice and best practice technical guidance. 

 
11 Surface water and groundwater bodies are highly vulnerable to pollution 

and the impact of construction activities. It is essential that the risk of 
pollution (particularly during the construction phase) is considered and 
mitigated appropriately. It is important to remember that flow within the 
watercourse is likely to vary by season and it could be dry at certain times 
throughout the year. Dry watercourses should not be overlooked as these 
watercourses may flow or even flood following heavy rainfall. 

 
12 All green roofs should be designed, constructed and maintained in line with 

the CIRIA SuDS Manual (C753) and the Green Roof Code (GRO). 
 
13 Constructions or alterations within an ordinary watercourse (temporary or 

permanent) require consent from the Lead Local Flood Authority under the 
Land Drainage Act 1991. Ordinary watercourses include every river, drain, 
stream, ditch, dyke, sewer (other than public sewer) and passage through 
which water flows that do not form part of Main Rivers (Main Rivers are 
regulated by the Environment Agency). The applicant should refer to 
Cambridgeshire County Council's Culvert Policy for further guidance: 

 https://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/business/planning-and-
development/water-minerals-and-waste/watercourse-management/ 

 Please note the council does not regulate ordinary watercourses in Internal 
Drainage Board areas. 

 
14 Before the existing property is demolished, a Demolition Notice will be 

required from the Building Control section of the council's planning 
department establishing the way in which the property will be dismantled, 
including any asbestos present, the removal of waste, minimisation of dust, 
capping of drains and establishing hours of working operation. This should 
be brought to the attention of the applicant to ensure the protection of the 
residential environment of the area 

 
15 A licence issued by Natural England pursuant to Regulation 53 of the 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) may 
be required authorising the specified activity/development to go ahead. 

 
 

 
Background Papers: 
 
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website and / or 
an indication as to where hard copies can be inspected. 
 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework SPDs 

 

Page 56



  
 
Planning Committee Date 13th July 2022  
Report to South Cambridgeshire District Council Planning 

Committee 
Lead Officer Joint Director of Planning and Economic 

Development 
Reference 22/00116/FUL 
Site Car Park, Walkling Way, Milton  
Ward / Parish Milton 
Proposal Installation of a 10 bicyclite bike shelter at the 

car park at Walkling Way. 
Applicant South Cambridgeshire Council 
Presenting Officer Amy Stocks  
Reason Reported to 
Committee 

Application submitted by a member or officer of 
the Council 
 

Member Site Visit Date N/A 
Key Issues N/A 

 
Recommendation APPROVE subject to conditions  

 

Page 57

Agenda Item 6



 
1.0 Executive Summary 
 
1.1 The application seeks planning permission for the erection of a covered 

communal bicycle shelter at the car park of the council owned flats at 
Walkling Way for the use of the residents.  

 
1.2 The application has garnered support from numerous Councillors and 

Third Party Representatives. The Local Highways Authority have 
expressed concerns in regard to the existing number of car spaces, the 
loss of one car space to accommodate the cycle store and the reference 
mitigation of the 5 on road car spaces.  
 

1.3 Officers consider the loss of one car space for the provision of 10 cycle 
spaces to be in accordance with the policy TI/2 and TI/3 which refers to 
sustainable travel and the parking provision retrospectively. As a Council, 
South Cambridgeshire strive to promote sustainable transport and as 
Milton is a 25 minute cycle from the City Centre, officers consider the loss 
of one parking space to be acceptable in order to provide the means for 
sustainable transport which is currently not available to the occupants of 
the flats.  

 
1.4 Officers recommend that the Planning Committee Approve the application 

subject to conditions.  
 
2.0 Site Description and Context 
 

None relevant    
 

 Tree Preservation Order  

Conservation Area 
 

 Local Nature Reserve  

Listed Building 
 

 Flood Zone 1 x 

Building of Local Interest 
 

 Green Belt  

Historic Park and Garden  Protected Open Space  

Scheduled Ancient Monument  Controlled Parking Zone  

Local Neighbourhood and 
District Centre 

 Article 4 Direction  

 
 
2.1 The proposal site lies within the Milton village framework. The site 

comprises of a carpark which serves 24 neighbouring flats and provides 
space for 24 car spaces.  
 

2.2 The site is bordered to the north, south and west with residential 
properties, the east boundary of the site is shared with Walkling Way.   

 
 

3.0 The Proposal 

Page 58



 
3.1 The application seeks permission for the installation of a 10 bicyclite bike 

shelter at the car park at walking way. 
 

 
4.0 Relevant Site History 

None relevant.  
 
5.0 Policy 
 
5.1 National  

 
National Planning Policy Framework 2021 
 
National Planning Practice Guidance  
 
National Design Guide 2019 
 
Local Transport Note 1/20 (LTN 1/20) Cycle Infrastructure Design 

 
5.2 South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018  

 
S/1 – Vision 
S/2 – Objectives of the Local Plan 
S/3 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
S/4 – Cambridge Green Belt 
S/5 – Provision of New Jobs and Homes 
S/7 – Development Frameworks 
S/9 – Minor Rural Centres 
HQ/1 – Design Principles 
TI/2 – Planning for Sustainable Travel 
TI/3 – Parking Provision 
 

5.3 Supplementary Planning Documents 
 

Sustainable Design and Construction SPD – Adopted January 2020 
 
5.4 The following SPDs were adopted to provide guidance to support 

previously adopted Development Plan Documents that have now been 
superseded by the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. These 
documents are still material considerations when making planning 
decisions, with the weight in decision making to be determined on a case-
by-case basis:  

 
Landscape in New Developments SPD – Adopted March 2010 
District Design Guide SPD – Adopted March 2010 
Trees and Development Sites SPD – Adopted January 2009 

 
 
6.0 Consultations  

Page 59



 
6.1 Milton Parish Council – No Recommendations 
 
6.2 Milton Parish Council have no recommendation on this scheme. The 

Parish Council have queried if a new tree could be planted to replace the 
one being removed (tree stump).  
 

6.3 As the tree stump is not providing any visual amenity to the area and is not 
considered notable to the area, officers consider the request for the 
planting of a new tree to be excessive. Therefore, the request to plant a 
new tree will not be actioned.  

 
6.4 County Highways Development Management  
 
6.5 The Local Highway Authority have raised concerns regarding the inclusion 

of the 5 spaces within the adopted highway as relief for the loss of the 
single space and proof that the site provides 24 car spaces.  

 
 

7.0 Third Party Representations 
 
7.1 1 representation has been received.  

 
7.2 The single representation is in support of the application. No further details 

have been provided. 
 
8.0 Member Representations 
 
8.1 Cllr Bearpark and Cllr Rippeth have made a representation supporting the 

application. No further details have been provided. 
 
 

9.0 Assessment 
 
9.1 Principle of Development 

 
9.2 Policy S/7 of the Local Plan states that inside development frameworks, 

will be permitted should they meet requirements of the policy; 
 

9.3 a.  Development is of a scale, density and character appropriate to 
the location, and is consistent with other policies in the Local Plan; 
and 
 

b.  Retention of the site in its present state does not form an essential 
part of the local character, and development would protect and 
enhance local features of green space, landscape, ecological or 
historic importance; and 
 

c.  There is the necessary infrastructure capacity to support the 
development; 

Page 60



 
9.4 The supporting text to policy S/7 sets out the development frameworks 

define where policies for the built-up areas of settlements give way to 
policies for the countryside. This is necessary to ensure that the 
countryside is protected from gradual encroachment on the edges of 
villages and to help guard against incremental growth in unsustainable 
locations.  

 
9.5 The site is located within the development framework boundary of Milton. 

The small-scale nature of the development, in addition to the location 
being in an existing car park is considered to be in keeping with the use of 
the immediate area and not out of character. The standard muted 
materials to be used in the shelter construction are considered to be 
suitable and in keeping with the wider residential area of Walkling Way.  

 
9.6 The site is a car park and does not form an essential part of the local 

character, it is not considered that the shelter would jeopardise local 
features of green space, landscape ecological or historic importance.  

 
9.7 The 24 flats who utilise the carpark do not have provision for cycle 

storage. There is a need for this infrastructure in order to support the 
existing development in line with the Councils vision for sustainable 
transport.  

 
9.8 The principle of the development is therefore acceptable and in 

accordance with policies S/7.  
 
9.9 Design, Layout, Scale and Landscaping 

 
9.10 Policy HQ/1 ‘Design Principles’ provides a comprehensive list of criteria by 

which development proposals must adhere to, requiring that all new 
development must be of high-quality design, with a clear vision as to the 
positive contribution the development will make to its local and wider 
context. 
 

9.11 The proposed shelter will be circa 4.1m x 2.1m with a height of 2.2m. The 
gates to the shelter will open outwards into the carpark (resulting in the 
loss of one space) by 2m outwards.  The shelter will be located on a small 
patch of grass where there is an existing tree stump and where bins are 
currently stored (no store). The shelter will include 5 galvanised bike 
stands (provision for 10 cycles).  
 

9.12 The proposed cycle store will be constructed using curved steel with a 
slate grey finish which is protected by clear polycarbonate panels. The 
shelter will be secured by a coded padlock. The concrete base of the 
shelter will continue the use of the existing material used for the carpark to 
ensure a seamless design is achieved.  

 
9.13 Given the small-scale nature of this development and the muted tonal 

palette of the design materials, officers do not consider the structure would 

Page 61



have an adverse impact on the setting of the wider area. The shelter 
would provide a safe, secure and accessible provision for the storage of 
cycles (point i. of policy HQ/1) while ensuring the development adapts to 
the current lifestyles of occupants who commute by cycle (point k. of policy 
HQ/1).  

 
9.14 The proposed development is a high-quality design that would contribute 

positively to its surroundings. The proposal is compliant with South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan (2018) policy HQ/1.  

 
9.15 Trees 
 
9.16 Policies NH/2 and HQ/1 seek to preserve, protect and enhance existing 

trees and hedges. Para. 131 of the NPPF seeks for existing trees to be 
retained wherever possible.  

 
9.17 The application sees the removal of a tree stump in order to construct the 

cycle store. Officers consider the removal of the tree stump to be 
acceptable as the current vegetation does not add to the character of the 
area nor is its presence notable.  

 
9.18 The proposal would accord with policies NH/2 and HQ/1of the Local Plan. 

 
 

9.19 Highway Safety and Transport Impacts 
 
9.20 Policy HQ/1 states that proposals must provide safe and convenient 

access for all users and abilities to public buildings and spaces, including 
those with limited mobility or those with impairment such as sight or 
hearing. 

 
9.21 Policy TI/2 requires developers to demonstrate adequate provision will be 

made to mitigate the likely impacts of the proposed development and, for 
larger developments, to demonstrate they have maximised opportunities 
for sustainable travel, and provided a Transport Assessment and Travel 
Plan. 

 
9.22 Para. 111 of the NPPF advises that development should only be 

prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative 
impacts on the road network would be severe.  

 
9.23 Access to the site would be from the existing carpark access off Walkling 

Way. The cycle store will be accessed from this carpark.   
 

9.24 The application has been subject to formal consultation with 
Cambridgeshire County Council’s Local Highways Authority and Transport 
Assessment Team, who raise no objection to the proposal subject, 
however concerns have been raised in relation to the number of spaces 

Page 62



provided in the carpark and the applicants reference to the use of off-site 
car spaces in relation to the mitigation of the loss of one.  
 

9.25 The existing carpark does not outline parking bays. The removal of one 
bay (in order to access and use the cycle store) is considered to be 
acceptable given the lack of provision on site for cycle storage. When 
visiting site, officers observed that the carpark was not used to capacity.  
 

9.26 It is considered that as the carpark is existing and was likely constructed in 
accordance with the policies in place at that time, to hold the site 
accountable to new policies in relation to parking provision and bay sizing 
would be unfair as cars are larger today. Additionally, Milton being a 25-
minute cycle from the City Centre it is likely not all the occupants of the 
flats have motor vehicles.  
 

9.27 The proposal would reduce the need to travel by car and would promote 
sustainable transport. Therefore, officers consider the proposal accords 
with the objectives of policy TI/2 of the Local Plan and is compliant with 
NPPF advice. 

 
9.28 Cycle and Car Parking Provision   
 
9.29 Policies HQ/1 and TI/3 set out that car and cycle parking provision should 

be provided through a design-led approach in accordance with the 
indicative standards set out in Figure 11 of the Local Plan. Cycle parking 
should be provided to at least the minimum standards. 

 
9.30 Cycle Parking 

 
9.31 TI/3 requires 1 cycle space per bedroom. The supporting text advises that 

for residential purposes cycle parking should be within a covered, lockable 
enclosure and that for houses this could be in the form of a shed or 
garage, for flats either individual lockers or cycle stands within a lockable, 
covered enclosure are required. All cycle parking should be designed and 
located to minimise conflict between cycles, pedestrians and vehicles. 
 

9.32 As the cycle provision is for 10 cycles for 24 flats, it is clear that sufficient 
provision is not met. However, as mentioned before, the flats and 
associated carpark would have been constructed in accordance with older 
policies which may not have enforced sustainable transport or the need for 
cycle storage. As a result, the site is constrained as to where the cycle 
storage is erected.  
 

9.33 The proposed location would result in the removal of one car space. The 
storage of 10 cycles is considered to be a positive addition in planning for 
sustainable travel and presents the opportunity to provide more storage if 
needed. Therefore officers consider the provision of cycle storage to be 
acceptable despite under providing on a whole.  

 
9.34 Car Parking 

Page 63



 
9.35 TI/3 requires 2 spaces per dwelling – 1 space to be allocated within the 

curtilage. The supporting text to the policy advises that the Council will 
encourage innovative solutions such as shared parking areas, for example 
where there are a mix of day and night uses, car clubs and provision of 
electric charging points and that a developer must provide clear 
justification for the level and type of parking proposed and will need to 
demonstrate they have addressed highway safety issues.  
 

9.36 The design and access statement confirms that existing carpark provides 
25 spaces for 25 flats. By current adopted polices, this provision is not 
acceptable, despite officers observing a relatively empty carpark on the 
site visit. The proposed parking situation does not see any provision for 
cycle storage. Officers consider that the level of parking provided on site Is 
sufficient for the needs of the flats and that the loss of car parking space to 
accommodate 10 cycle spaces would be acceptable and would positively 
respond the to sustainable transport objectives of the Council.  

 
9.37 The proposal is considered to accord with policies HQ/1 and TI/3 of the 

Local Plan and the Greater Cambridge Sustainable Design and 
Construction SPD. 

 
9.38 Amenity  
 
9.39 Policy HQ/1 (n), sets out that proposals must protect the health and 

amenity of occupiers and surrounding uses from development that is 
overlooking, overbearing or results in a loss of daylight or development 
which would create unacceptable impacts such as noise, vibration, odour, 
emissions and dust.  

 
9.40 The bike shelter will provide adequate cycle storage for the occupants of 

the neighbouring flats. Officers consider that this provision would enhance 
the amenity of these occupants. The small shelter is circa 10m from 
neighbouring properties (no. 13 and 15), officers do not consider that the 
shelter would adversely impact these properties.  

 
9.41 Other Matters 
9.42 Bins 

 
9.43 The applicant has confirmed the area where the shelter will be located, is 

where occupants currently store their bins. The applicant has confirmed 
that a new location for the storage of the bins has been agreed. No 
information as to where the bins will be stored has been provided. 
However, officers are satisfied that this matter can be addressed via 
condition.  

 
9.44 Planning Balance 
 
9.45 Planning decisions must be taken in accordance with the development 

plan unless there are material considerations that indicate otherwise 

Page 64



(section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and section 
38[6] of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  

 
9.46 Although the loss of 1 car space will occur for the construction of this 

shelter, the proposal will provide storage of cycles to the occupants of the 
neighbouring flats which is currently not available. The storage has the 
potential to encourage the use of cycles over cars thus embodying the 
sustainable transport objectives of the Council.  

 
9.47 Having taken into account the provisions of the development plan, NPPF 

and NPPG guidance, the views of statutory consultees and wider 
stakeholders, as well as all other material planning considerations, the 
proposed development is recommended for approval subject to conditions 

 
9.48 Recommendation 
9.49 Approve subject to:  
 

-The planning conditions as set out below with minor amendments to the 
conditions as drafted delegated to officers.  

 
10.0 Planning Conditions  

 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: In accordance with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

2.  The advertisement(s) hereby permitted shall be installed in accordance 
with the following approved plans: 

  

 Walkling Way Cycle Store Location Plan – Dated 08/11/2021 

 Walkling Way Cycle Store – Dated 08/11/2021  

 Walkling Way Site Location Map – Dated 08/11/2021 
 

Reason: In the interests of good planning and for the avoidance of doubt. 
 
3. The materials to be used in the external construction of the development, 

hereby permitted, shall follow the specifications in accordance with the 
details specified within the Design and Access Statement unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure the external appearance of the development does not 
detract from the character and appearance of the area.in accordance with 
Policy HQ/1 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 
4. The location of the bin store shall be implemented prior to the occupation 

of the permitted cycle store.  
 

Page 65



Reason: To ensure provision of facilities for future occupiers (South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 policies HQ/1 and TI/3) 

Page 66



REPORT TO: 

Planning Committee July 2022 

LEAD OFFICER: 

Joint Director of Planning and Economic Development 

Enforcement Report 

 

Executive Summary 

1. On 1st July 2022 there were 172 open cases in South Cambridgeshire, compared 

with 165 cases the previous month. 

2. Details of all enforcement investigations are sent electronically to members on a 

weekly basis identifying opened and closed cases in their respective areas along 

with case reference numbers, location, case officer and nature of problem reported. 

3. Statistical data including June 2022 is contained in Appendices 1 and 2 to this 

report. 

Updates to Service Delivery 

With the advent of the departure of Lead Principal Enforcement Officer Will 

Holloway, there is a vacancy in a Principal Enforcement Officer role. Enforcement 

Team management is being currently been undertaken by Toby Williams.    

The Planning Enforcement Team is part of the Development Management service of 

the Greater Cambridge Shared Planning Service and I have attached below an 

organisational chart of the team for your information. 

Toby Williams  
Interim Development Manager (East Team) and Planning Compliance  
 
Vacant  
Principal Planning Compliance Officer 
 
John Shuttlewood 
Principal Planning Compliance Officer (2 days a week) 
 

Page 67

Agenda Item 7



Alistair Funge 
Senior Planning Compliance Officer 
 
Nick Smith 
Senior Planning Compliance Officer 
 
Tony Wallis 
Acting Senior Planning Compliance Officer 
 
Cambridge City only 
Neil Langley 
Senior Planning Compliance Officer 
 
South Cambridgeshire Only 
Charlie Jones 
Planning Compliance Officer  
 

 

Updates on significant cases 

 

Should Members wish for specific updates to be added to the Enforcement Report 

then please request these from the Principal Planning Compliance Officer and they 

will be added to the next available Planning Committee. If Members would like 

further  information as part of this report then please contact the Principal Planning 

Compliance Officer. 

 

Updates are as follows: 

 

Due to changes in personnel within the team and annual leave being taken 

during June, limited updates are provided on items which formed part of last 

month’s report.  Officers are aware of Member requests for updates and will 

work to provide these in the forthcoming months.  

 

 

Burwash Manor Farm 

Without planning permission, the erection of children’s play equipment within land 

designated as Green Belt. A retrospective planning application, reference 

S/3494/18/FL had been refused. The size, scale and height of the development is 

contrary to paragraph 144 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019. 

The enforcement notice issued requires the owners to cease the use of the play 

equipment specifically the adventure tower and remove the play equipment from the 

land. The compliance period is one (1) month from the date it takes effect on the 21 

May 2019 – A Planning Appeal has been submitted to the Inspectorate on the 20th 

May 2019 – Appeal allowed; Enforcement Notice quashed. 

Replacement notice to be drafted and served. Enforcement Notice served on 9th 

July 2020. Compliance visit to be carried out after 7th October. Late Appeal rejected 

Page 68



by PIN’s. Stephen Kelly in talks with owner to re-site playground on suitable land. 

Site visited by Enforcement and Environmental Health Officers 16th December. No 

agreement reached consideration to be given to prosecution for failing to comply with 

the enforcement notice. 

Partial compliance with notice following joint site visit with Environmental Health 

confirms that the Hobbit House has been removed but the associated wooden chairs 

remain along with the main playground structures. The playground has been closed 

over the past year but harm is still being caused by people sitting in the area where 

the hobbit house was. 

Planning application reference 21/03587/FUL was submitted for the retention of two 

pieces of play equipment and the introduction of an acoustic fence along the 

southern boundary however, this was refused on 26 April 2022. No appeal lodged at 

time of writing. 

 

Elmwood House 13A High Street, Croxton, PE19 6SX 

Extension and garage granted permission by S/2126/18/FL, not constructed as 

approved plans and approved materials not used. Retrospective application 

S/0865/19/FL to retain as constructed refused. Enforcement Notice requiring garage 

and extension to be demolished served, 18 December 2019. Enforcement Notice 

appealed. Appeal process commenced. 

29 April 2020. 

Appeals resulted, 

Appeal A, allowed on ground (f), the appellant now has three options, (i) Demolish 

completely, (ii) Demolish to brick plinth level and rebuild as S/2126/18/FL or (iii) 

Remove exterior render finish and replace with brick tiles to match existing and 

construct roof as approval S/2126/18/FL. 

Appeal B, planning permission should be allowed for development as built, 

dismissed. 

Compliance date 30th December 2020. 

Site visit carried out on 18/01/21, 25/02/21 and 12/04/21 and the notice has not been 

complied with. 

A further application under reference 20/01408/HFUL has been submitted and 

agreement with Area Manager that all Enforcement action will be held in abeyance 

pending the outcome of the application, which is not yet determined. A subsequent 

application (22/01901/HFUL) has also been submitted at the site which is being 

considered. 

 

Smithy Fen, Cottenham, Cambridge, Cambridgeshire, CB24 8PT 

This is a site with an extensive history of formal Notices being served, injunctions 

and prosecutions being carried out. Due to the complex nature of the site an outside 

company Ivy Legal have been tasked with reviewing the site history and providing a 

detailed report on recommended actions that can be considered by the Local 

Planning Authority. 

Page 69



The report is in the final draft stage and members will be updated as soon as it is 

complete. Internal discussions between all departments are currently ongoing with 

how best to move this matter forward with recommendations from the Enforcement 

Group to be provided within two months to Leadership Group. 

A briefing Note has been forwarded to Stephen Kelly with details of requirements 

from key stakeholders and other interested parties with regards to the possibility of 

serving Planning Contravention Notices on all occupants with the assistance of Ivy 

Legal. Consideration to be given to the resourcing for this due to high numbers on 

site, consideration and support for those that are unable to read and write as well as 

any other considerations. 

Ivy Legal have now formally been requested to advise on how they can assist in 

moving the project of serving approximately over 100 Planning Contravention 

Notices forward and swiftly. A multi-agency meeting was held with Ivy Legal on 25th 

February 2022 to agree the approach with regards to Planning Contravention 

Notices on site and support needed. 

 

Pathfinder Way, Northstowe, Cambridgeshire, CB24 1AA 

A Temporary Stop Notice was served on 21/09/21 to cease piling. Evidence from 

residents is being collated and forwarded to Legal to commence a prosecution. All 

works have stopped in respect of piling. Planning Compliance Team are continually 

being updated by Planning Officers and will take further action if directed to do so. 

 

Land At Haden Way, Willingham, Cambridge, Cambridgeshire, CB24 5HB 

A Breach of Condition Notice was served on 23rd September 2021 with regards to 

piling on site. All works have ceased in relation to the piling. A meeting between 

members and residents took place on 7th October 2021 and a further meeting on 

29th October 2021. 

No requirement for further action, though it will be continued to be monitored. 

 

Land To North And South Of Bartlow Road, Linton, Cambridgeshire 

The only outstanding matter regarding conditions relates to foul water drainage 

(condition 11) which is the subject of an appeal that is still in progress.  

 

Pleasant View, Ely Road, Landbeach, CB25 9NW 

This complaint relates to the positioning and residential use of mobile homes on the 

site and the raising of land levels to the rear of the site where it is close to Bluebell 

Woods. 

The LLFA have assessed the site and the land raising and are of the opinion that the 

raised land of 30-45cm has little to no effect on the site at both Pleasant View and 

Bluebell Woods and that the drainage present is adequate. There are civil remedies 

available to neighbours that would not require consent. 

A Planning Contravention Notice was served on 11th February 2022 requiring 

information on the status of the mobile homes and tourers on the site and their 

relationship to the dilapidated residential dwelling on the site. A response was 

Page 70



received to the PCN from Matthew Green from Green Planning Studio Ltd on 4 April 

2022. Enforcement officers are satisfied there is no breach of planning control and 

the site is not being used as a caravan site for travellers.  The case is now closed. 

 

Background Papers 

Planning Enforcement Register. 

Statistical Analysis of Uniform Planning Enforcement Software Program. 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1: Enforcement Cases Received and Closed. 

Appendix 2: Notices Served. 

Report Author: 

John Shuttlewood – Principal Planning Enforcement Officer Date: 5/7/22 

 

Page 71



This page is left blank intentionally.



Appendix 1   

Enforcement Cases Received and Closed. 

 

Month 

South Cambridgeshire 

Received 
No 
Breach 

Resolved 
Not 
Expedient 

Application 
Approved 

Other LPA Total 

June 
2022 

22 0 0 2 0 0 2 

May 
2022 

25 17 0 13 1 15 46 

 

 

Quarterly Totals for Past 5 Years 

Quarter 

South Cambridgeshire 

Received 
No 
Breach 

Resolved 
Not 
Expedient 

Application 
Approved 

Other LPA Total 

Qtr 1 
2022 

85 26 0 19 1 21 67 

Qtr 2 
2022 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Qtr 3 
2022 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Qtr 4 
2022 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Qtr 1 
2021 

93 58 48 22 22 53 203 

Qtr 2 
2021 

132 24 25 12 16 40 117 

Qtr 3 
2021 

91 46 47 14 13 32 152 

Qtr 4 
2021 

113 59 20 15 9 29 132 

Qtr 1 
2020 

100 44 2 5 1 6 58 

Page 73



Appendix 2  

Public Enforcement Notices served  

June 2022 

Reference Ward Parish Address Notice Issued 

*** No Notices Issued *** 

 

May 2022 

Reference Ward Parish Address Notice Issued 

EN/00394/21 Linton 
Great 
Abington 
CP 

16 Chalky Road Great Abington 
Cambridge Cambridgeshire CB21 6AT  

Operational Development 
Notice 

EN/00208/22 
Milton & 
Waterbeach 

Milton CP 
10 Shirley Close Milton Cambridge 
Cambridgeshire CB24 6BG  

Material Change of use 
Enforcement Notice 

EN/00063/22 Cottenham 
Cottenham 
CP 

Farmhouse Willow Grange Ely Road 
Chittering Waterbeach Cambridge 
Cambridgeshire Willow Grange Farm  

Material Change of use 
Enforcement Notice 

 

Planning Contravention Notices served 

These notices are served as part of the investigation process into allegations 

concerning breaches of planning control and as such, full details are not available to 

the public. 

June 2022 - 0  

May 2022 - 0  

Page 74



 
  

Report to: 
 

Planning Committee  13 July 2022 

Lead Officer: 
 

Joint Director of Planning and Economic Development   

 

 
 

Appeals against Planning Decisions and 
Enforcement Action 

Executive Summary 

1. This report informs Members about appeals against planning decisions and 
enforcement action, and proposed hearing and inquiry dates, as of 29 June 2022. 
Summaries of recent decisions of importance are also reported, for information. 

Appendices 

Appendix 1: Decisions Notified by the Secretary of State 

Appendix 2: Appeals received 

Appendix 3: Local Inquiry and Informal Hearing dates scheduled 

Appendix 4: Appeals Awaiting Decision from Inspectorate 

Appendix 5: Appeals Pending Statement 
 

Report Author:  

Ian Papworth Technical Support Officer (Appeals) 
Telephone Number: 01954 713406 
 

 

Page 75

Agenda Item 8



This page is left blank intentionally.



Appendix 1 
 

 
Decisions Notified By The Secretary of State 

 
 

Reference Address Details Decision 
 

Date Planning 
Decision 

S/3290/19/RM Land East Of 
Teversham 
Road Fulbourn 

Approval of 
matters 
reserved for 
appearance 
landscaping 
layout and 
scale following 
outline 
planning 
permission 
S/0202/17/OL 
for the 
development 
of 110 
dwellings with 
areas of 
landscaping 
and public 
open space 
and 
associated 
infrastructure 
works The 
outline was 
screened and 
confirmed not 
too be EIA 
development 

Allowed 10/6/2022 Refused 

S/4521/19/FL Martins Farm 
53 Boxworth 
Road 
Elsworth 

Erection of 9 
dwellinghous
es and 
associated 
infrastructure 
and works 
including 
formation of 
new 
vehicular 
access 
following 
demolition of 
existing 
buildings 

Dismissed 24/6/2022 Refused 

21/01975/FUL Eastern 
Counties 
Leather 
Industrial 
Estate 
London Road 
Pampisford 

Removal of 
two temporary 
buildings and 
the 
construction of 
a new single 
storey 
footwear good 
store 

Allowed 24/6/2022 Non-
Determination 

Page 77



Appendix 1 
 

21/04437/HFUL 21 Priory Road 
Horningsea 

Single 
storey front 
extension 
and part 
two storey, 
part single 
storey rear 
extension 
following 
demolition 
of existing 
rear 
extension 

Dismissed 25/6/2022 Refused 

21/04874/HFUL North Farm, 
North Farm 
House  
Long Lane 
Fowlmere 

New vehicle 
access onto 
Long Lane.  
'Resubmissio
n of 
21/03818/HF
UL'. 

Allowed 25/6/2022 Refused 

21/04211/HFUL 26 Toft Lane 
Great 
Wilbraham 

First floor 
extension 
including 
balcony 

Dismissed 25/6/2022 Refused 

21/05121/HFUL 11 The Lawns 
Melbourn 

Ground floor 
rear 
extension 
and 
associated 
landscaping 
works. 

Dismissed 25/6/2022 Refused 

21/00781/HFUL Foxelwood  
Station Road 
Oakington 

Renovation 
of existing 
timber barn 
to home 
office and 
summer 
room. 
Construction 
of new open 
car port and 
two garages. 
Thinning of 
vegetation to 
front of 
dwelling to 
improve 
access and 
visibility to 
Station 
Road. 

Dismissed 27/6/2022 Refused 

 

Page 78



Appendix 2 
 

Appeals Received 
 
 

Reference Address Details Date Appeal 
lodged 
 

EN/00208/22 10 Shirley Close 
Milton 

Creation of a new 
dwelling as a result 
of a functional link 
being removed 

6/6/2022 

22/00199/PRIOR Land At Station 
Road 
Longstanton 

Proposed 18.0m 
Phase 8 Monopole 
C/W wrapround 
Cabinet at base 
and associated 
ancillary works. 

6/6/2022 

22/00484/FUL Enterprise 
Nurseries  
Ely Road 
Landbeach 

Erection of 1 No. 
bungalow. 

7/6/2022 

EN/00394/21 16 Chalky Road 
Great Abington 

Barns not built in 
accordance, use of 
land as a campsite 
and breach of 
landscaping 
S/2387/17/FL 

9/6/2022 

20/01564/FUL Land To The South 
East Of Burton End 
West Wickham 

Mixed use of 
agricultural and 
solar farm 

9/6/2022 

22/01210/PRIOR Flittons Farm 
78-80 Station Road 
Steeple Morden 

Notification for prior 
approval for the 
conversion of two 
agricultural 
buildings to 2 no. 
residential 
dwellings (Class 
C3) 

13/6/2022 

21/05689/OUT Land To The South 
Of Banworth 
Ely Road 
Landbeach 

Outline application 
for 3 dwellings with 
some matters 
reserved except for 
access. 

14/6/2022 

20/03845/HFUL 30 Manor Road 
Gamlingay 

Amendment to 
S/0371/08/F 'Extension 
to dwelling and erection 
of double garage / 
conservatory' to include 
the installation of a roof 
light and the removal of 
a first floor window on 
the southern elevation 

22/6/2022 

 

Page 79



This page is left blank intentionally.



Appendix 3 
 

Local Inquiry and Informal Hearing dates scheduled 
 
 

 Local Inquiries 
 

Reference Name Address Planning 
decision or 
Enforcement? 
 

Date 
confirmed/ 
proposed 

21/05276/FUL Churchill 
Retirement 
Living Ltd & FH 
Great Shelford 
Ltd 

2 Station Road 
Great Shelford 

Non 
Determination 

12/7/2022 
5 days 

21/00772/OUT BRE-BMR CITP 
(Cambridge) 
Limited 

Technology Park 
Fulbourn Road 
Cambridge 

Planning 
Decision 

4/10/2022 
8 days 

 
 
 
 

 Informal Hearings 
 

Reference Name Address Planning 
decision or 
Enforcement? 
 

Date 
confirmed/ 
proposed 

EN/00216/21 Nelson Charles 
Arthur James 
O'Conner 

Land To The North 
Of The Old Coal Yard 
Chesterton Fen Road 
Milton 

Enforcement 
Notice 

TBC 

21/04556/FUL Mr P & Mrs J 
Lawrence 

Butts Farm  
Malton Road 
Orwell 

Planning 
Decision 

19.7.2022 

EN/00362/21 Mary Siobhan 
Howe 

Cherry Trees 
Priest Lane 
Willingham 
 

Enforcement 
Notice 

TBC 

20/03742/FUL MJG London Land Comprising, 
Kendal Court, 
Anglia House, 
Kendal House, 
Regency House 
And 1 Cambridge 
Raod  
Cambridge Road 
Impington 

Planning 
Decision 

23/8/2022 

 

Page 81



This page is left blank intentionally.



Appendix 4 
 

Appeals Awaiting Decision from Inspectorate 

 
 

Reference Address Description Reason for appeal 
 

EN/00216/21 Land To The North 
Of The Old Coal 
Yard 
Chesterton Fen Road 
Milton 

Mobile homes sited 
on land without 
planning permission. 

Appeal against 
enforcement notice 

ENF/0214/18 22 Cambridge Road 
Foxton 

Without planning 
permission: 1. The 
material change of 
use of the land 
hatched in blue on 
the attached plan to a 
coach depot including 
the parking and 
storage of coaches, 
and 2. The creation 
of an area of 
hardstanding for use 
as a coach depot on 
the land hatched in 
blue on the attached 
plan. 

Appeal against 
enforcement notice 

20/05079/FUL 17 Heydon Road 
Great And Little 
Chishill 

Erection of one and a 
half storey dwelling. 

Against Refusal of 
Permission 

21/01540/CLUED Poplar Cottage  
Nosterfield End 
Shudy Camps 

Certificate of 
lawfulness under 
Section 191 for an 
existing single storey 
rear extension 

Against Refusal of 
Permission 

21/01607/FUL 59 Ermine Way 
Arrington 

Erection of 1 No. eco 
dwellinghouse 

Against Refusal of 
Permission 

21/00684/FUL Horse And Groom  
Baldock Road 
Steeple Morden 

Demolition of existing 
building and the 
erection of a B8 self-
storage unit with 
ancillary office 

Against Refusal of 
Permission 

20/04987/FUL 8 Parkway 
Shudy Camps 

Erection of a dwelling 
with access off 
Carsey Hill 

Against Refusal of 
Permission 

Page 83



Appendix 4 
 

21/01485/FUL 2A North Brook End 
Steeple Morden 

Conversion and 
adaption of an 
existing building to a 
Self-Build Dwelling 

Against Refusal of 
Permission 

21/02835/FUL Land At Church Farm 
Buildings  
Park Street 
Dry Drayton 

Erection of single 
storey detached 
dwelling of three 
bedroom design with 
associated amenity 
space, parking, bin 
and cycle storage 

Against Refusal of 
Permission 

21/04068/FUL Land North East Of 
155 Rampton Road 
Willingham 

Demolition of 
redundant agricultural 
building and erection 
of two dwellings with 
associated 
development 
(amendments to 
application 
21/02578/PRI03Q) 

Against Refusal of 
Permission 

21/01102/FUL Land Between 2 And 
4  
High Street 
Great Eversden 

Erection of dwelling Against Refusal of 
Permission 

20/04431/FUL The Arches  
Schole Road 
Willingham 

Removal of existing 
mobile chalet unit 
and erection of new 
single storey dwelling 
with new 'link' to 
existing brick and tile 
'medical Unit', with 
temporary provision 
for the siting of 2 no 
static caravans for 
occupation during 
construction phase. 

Against Refusal of 
Permission 

21/01134/FUL Land Adjacent To 
283 St Neots Road 
Hardwick 

Erection of 1no single 
storey dwelling and 
associated works 

Non-determined 
within 8 weeks 

20/01992/FUL Bennell Farm  
West Street 
Toft 

Erection of 41 
dwellings, including 
two self-build plots 
and associated 
development 

Against Refusal of 
Permission 

20/05051/FUL 113 Cambridge Road 
Wimpole 

Conversion of 
ancillary granny 
annexe to residential 
dwelling house 

Against Refusal of 
Permission 

Page 84



Appendix 4 
 

21/04065/FUL 40 Leeway Avenue 
Great Shelford 

Erection of 2no 
dwellings following 
demolition of existing 
bungalow. 

Against Refusal of 
Permission 

21/03864/FUL 2A North Brook End 
Steeple Morden 

Change of use, 
conversion and 
adaption of an 
existing building to a 
Self-Build Dwelling 
(Re-submission of 
21/01485/FUL) 

Against Refusal of 
Permission 

21/00171/FUL 6A Church Road 
Hauxton 

Conversion of 
existing village hall to 
five bedroom dwelling 
along with part single, 
part two storey rear 
extension 

Against Refusal of 
Permission 

20/03742/FUL Land Comprising, 
Kendal Court, Anglia 
House, Kendal 
House, Regency 
House And 1 
Cambridge Road 
Impington 

Demolition of existing 
buildings comprising 
Anglia House, Kendal 
House inc. flats 
above, Regency 
House and Marble 
Store to rear and 1 
Cambridge Road inc.  
flats above; 
redevelopment of the 
site comprising 28 
new-build Class C3 
residential units, and 
associated parking, 
2no. A1 use class 
commercial units at 
ground floor level, 
inc. 2no. commercial 
parking parking 
spaces; proposed 
new landscaping and 
public realm 
improvements to 
Cambridge Road. 

Against Refusal of 
Permission 

Page 85



Appendix 4 
 

EN/00615/21 Byeways 
Station Road 
Harston 

Breach of condition 
2- 21/02100/HFUL 
(extension being built 
bigger than 
approved) (erection 
of outbuilding in rear 
garden exceeding 
PD) 

Appeal against 
enforcement notice 

21/01339/FUL Land To The Rear Of 
53 Church Street 
Gamlingay 

Demolition of barn 
and erection of 
dwelling with 
associated parking 

Against Refusal of 
Permission 

21/00561/FUL 26 Fen Road 
Milton 

Single storey 1 
bedroom 
dwellinghouse 

Against Refusal of 
Permission 

21/00629/S73 Land To The North 
And South Of 
Bartlow Road 
Linton 

S73 Variation of 
condition 11 (Foul 
water drainage) of 
outline planning 
permission 
S/1963/15/OL 
(Residential 
development for up to 
55 dwellings with 
landscape buffer and 
new vehicular 
accesses from 
Bartlow Road) for 
revised wording to 
refer to the foul 
drainage design. 

Against Refusal of 
Permission 

21/00743/FUL 20-24 Pierce Lane 
Fulbourn 

Change of use and 
associated works to 
revert from current 
use as shop unit and 
ancillary stores/ 
workshops to a 
terrace of 3 no 
dwelling houses 

Against Refusal of 
Permission 

21/03457/FUL 20-24 Pierce Lane 
Fulbourn 

Change of use and 
associated works to 
revert from current use 
as shop unit and 
ancillary stores/ 
workshops to a terrace 
of 3 No. dwellinghouses 

Against Refusal of 
Permission 

Page 86



Appendix 4 
 

21/05276/FUL 2 Station Road 
Great Shelford 

Redevelopment to 
form 39 retirement 
living apartments for 
older persons 
including communal 
facilities, car parking 
and associated 
landscaping. 

Non-determined 
within 8 weeks 

21/01085/FUL Land Adjacent To 
74 Station Road 
Willingham 

Erection of 2 
detached passive 4 
bedroom dwellings 
on land on the west 
side of Station Road, 
Willingham 

Against Refusal of 
Permission 

21/04556/FUL Butts Farm  
Malton Road 
Orwell 

Erection of a new 
dwelling. 

Against Refusal of 
Permission 

20/01779/FUL Land East And West 
Of 
110 Cinques Road 
Gamlingay 

Erection of 5 
dwellings 

Against Refusal of 
Permission 

21/00298/FUL Green Fox Farm 
Fowlmere Road 
Melbourn 

Farmland 
diversification, 
ecological 
enhancements and 
erection of 1no. 
residential dwelling 
with an associated 
change of use in land 
from agricultural to 
residential. 

Non-determined 
within 8 weeks 

 

Page 87



This page is left blank intentionally.



Appendix 5 
 

Appeals Pending Statement 
 

Reference Address Details Date Statement 
due 
 

21/02289/FUL 5 Papworths Close 
Over 

Construction of 1 
No. three bedroom 
Chalet Bungalow. 

4/7/2022 

20/03394/FUL 2 High Street 
Harston 

Demolition of an 
existing public 
house and the 
development of the 
site to provide an 
A1 convenience 
store at ground 
floor with 4no. C3 
Apartments at first 
floor together with 
all associated 
access and parking 
- Resubmission of 
S/3708/19/FL 

5/7/2022 

EN/00362/21 Cherry Trees 
Priest Lane 
Willingham 

Without planning 
permission, the 
change of use of 
the land from 
agricultural use to 
the use of the land 
for the running of a 
dog rescue 
organisation and 
the erection of 
associated kennels 

5/7/2022 

21/03731/PRI16A Land Opposite 35 
New Road 
Impington 

Installation of a 
15.0m Phase 8 
Monopole C/W 
wrapround Cabinet 
at base and 
associated ancillary 
works. 

18/7/2022 

Page 89



Appendix 5 
 

21/00772/OUT Technology Park 
Fulbourn Road 
Cambridge 

A hybrid planning 
application for a total of 
56,473sqm of 
commercial floorspace 
for Use Classes E(g) i 
(offices), ii (research 
and development), ii 
(light industrial) and B8 
(storage and distribution 
- limited to data centres) 
uses.  Comprising a) an 
Outline Application with 
all matters reserved 
(except for access) for 
the development of up 
to 44,671 sqm of 
floorspace, with 
associated access, 
structural landscaping, 
car and cycle parking 
and associated 
infrastructure works; b) 
a Full Application for the 
first Phase comprising 
the main access, one 
commercial building, a 
multi-decked car and 
cycle park and 
associated landscaping 
and infrastructure 
works; and c) a Full 
Application for the 
details of initial enabling 
works comprising site 
wide earth works and 
drainage. 

18/7/2022 

21/05528/FUL 32 Fowlmere Road 
Foxton 

Demolition of 
existing dwelling 
and erection of 4no. 
dwellings with 
associated 
infrastructure works 

20/7/2022 

EN/00394/21 16 Chalky Road 
Great Abington 

Barns not built in 
accordance, use of 
land as a campsite 
and breach of 
landscaping 
S/2387/17/FL 

1/8/2022 

 

Page 90


	Agenda
	5 21/00953/FUL - Former Hotel Felix, Whitehouse Lane, Girton
	6 22/00116/FUL - Car Park, Walkling Way, Milton
	7 Enforcement Report
	Appendix 1 2 July SCambs report

	8 Appeals against Planning Decisions and Enforcement Action
	July 2022 Appendix 1 - Decisions made
	July 2022 Appendix 2 - Appeals received
	July 2022 Appendix 3- Local Inquiries and informal hearings
	July 2022 Appendix 4 - Appeals Awaiting Decision from Inspectorate
	July 2022 Appendix 5 - Appeals Pending Statement


